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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited (the “Company”), I am 
pleased to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Mainland 
Headwear” or the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

OVERVIEW

Looking back to the past year, the Sino-US trade talks brought uncertainties to the global trade 
landscape. Crisis, however, presents opportunities. By grasping the opportunities arising from the Belt 
and Road strategic initiative, Mainland Headwear has set up a factory in Bangladesh in 2013, which 
has made us a winner amidst the trade war. Owing to the great demand of the US customers for 
products from the Bangladesh factory, the Manufacturing Business remained as the Group’s primary 
income stream and profit growth driver, bringing a stable and promising revenue contribution.

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung
Chairman

Madam Pauline Ngan, BBS, JP

Deputy Chairman and Managing Director
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To meet strong demand for orders from our partners, we have resolved to boost our production 
efficiency during the year. Despite the construction of Phase Two of the Bangladesh factory being 
behind the schedule due to the delayed approval of the local government, the management steadfastly 
expanded the production team and upgraded their production techniques. As a result, the Group was 
still able to increase production capacity by more than 30% year-on-year to approximately 4 million 
pieces of headwear products per month. Moreover, with the maturing production techniques of the 
Bangladesh workforce, the factory is capable of handling more high-end headwear product orders 
and delivering improved quality and quantity.

As for the Trading Business, the year 2018 was an investment period. Facing the weak retail market 
sentiment in the US, the Group’s subsidiary H3 Sportgear LLC (“H3”) managed to achieve moderate 
revenue growth, thanks to the stronger team effort, which is a testimony to the success of the 
business consolidation strategy. Another subsidiary, San Diego Hat Company (“SDHC”) has focused 
on developing its online sales platform to directly sell its self-branded accessories and enrich its 
product mix while building brand awareness. With online consumption becoming the main trend, we 
also made a foray into the e-commerce business during the year. Although the business is still in its 
infancy, it possesses strong growth potential.

Traditional retail business, which has been hit by online consumption, has also faced a difficult 
business environment. We have continued to close underperforming self-operated stores and prudently 
reviewed the operation of the business.
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Chairman’s Statement

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year, benefiting from the improved production efficiency of the Bangladesh factory, 
the Group was able to meet the increasing demand for orders by its brand partners. Hence, the 
Manufacturing Business remained as the Group’s main income source and profit growth driver and 
offset the effect of the consolidation of the Trading Business and the performance of the Retail Business 
dragged down by the business environment. Consequently, the Group’s revenue has maintained 
stable growth.

For the year, the Group achieved a turnover of HK$941,493,000 (2017: HK$890,707,000), an increase 
of 5.7% when compared with that of last year. Gross profit rose by 1.3% to HK$291,524,000 (2017: 
HK$287,794,000). However, the Retail Business with higher gross profit shrank, which caused overall 
gross profit margin to decrease slightly by 1.3 percentage point to 31.0% (2017: 32.3%). Stable 
revenue growth in the Manufacturing Business failed to mitigate the effects of the difficult business 
environment on the Trading Business and Retail Businesses, so the profit attributable to shareholders 
declined to HK$62,513,000 (2017: HK$77,228,000).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Manufacturing Business

Based on its long-standing and solid business relationship with customers and the unique advantages 
of the Bangladesh factory, the Group has been receiving strong orders from customers. During 
the Year, the Manufacturing Business achieved segment revenue of HK$728,934,000 (2017: 
HK$702,532,000), while revenue from external customers rose steadily by 6.0% to HK$672,790,000 
(2017: HK$634,563,000) and made up approximately 71.5% of the Group’s total revenue. Since the 
production efficiency of the Bangladesh factory has been improving, it was able to undertake more 
high-end orders. As a result, operating profit of the Manufacturing Business increased by 8.0% to 
HK$108,673,000 (2017: HK$100,591,000).

As at 31 December 2018, the Bangladesh factory had nearly 5,000 employees (2017: about 4,100 
employees). In addition to a growing workforce and maturing production techniques, the local factory’s 
production efficiency has been significantly improving, enabling it to receive more orders of high-
end headwear products. In addition, another piece of good news was that this factory has been 
connected to a private power plant, and stable power supply contribute to increasing production 
output. Benefitting from these favourable factors, output increased dramatically by more than 30% from 
about three million pieces of headwear products per month last year to about four million pieces per 
month, occupying around 75% of its total capacity. As for the factory in Shenzhen with a workforce 
of around 1,000 employees, it mainly serves to handle short lead-time orders and product research 
& development.

Trading Business

Despite being impacted by such uncertainties as the lackluster US retail market and Brexit, the Group’s 
Trading Business still recorded a 15.5% growth in revenue, mainly attributed to H3 with double-digit 
growth in orders from a multinational retail enterprise customer employees, which is an evidence of 
the success of its business consolidation strategy. Revenue of the segment was HK$213,143,000 
(2017: HK$184,543,000), accounting for approximately 22.6% of the Group’s total revenue. However, 
the Group increased the resources in the sales and R&D team so as to expand market share and 
e-commerce business, hence the operating loss of the business for the year was HK$19,218,000 
(2017: operating profit HK$2,950,000).

To expand the customer base of the Trading Business, the Group signed a non-legally binding letter 
of intent on 10 December 2018 in relation to the proposed acquisition of a company. The target 
company is headquartered in St. Louis, Missouri, USA, and is engaged in designing, manufacturing 
and marketing accessories for men, women and children. It also sells licensed, private label and 
custom headwear, small leather goods, bags, and accessories to many retailers in the USA. The 
proposed acquisition is beneficial to the Group to seek investment and business opportunities with 
strong potential of growth, hence diversifying income streams and consolidating its market share in 
the USA.
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Retail Business

Although the Group has strived to develop its online sales platform and strictly control the number 
of underperforming self-operated stores in its bid to lower operating costs, its Retail Business was 
inevitably affected by the change of consumption patterns. Revenue of the segment amounted to 
HK$55,560,000 (2017: HK$71,601,000), occupying around 5.9% in the Group’s total revenue, and 
operating loss was HK$13,677,000 (2017: HK$8,447,000).

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Sino-US trade dispute is unlikely to be resolved in the near future, so global 
trade is likely to remain unstable. However, Mainland Headwear has optimised its production layout 
in Bangladesh, and laid a solid foundation for the long-term development of the Group. Therefore, the 
Group will speed up the construction of Phase II of the factory, which is expected to start production 
in late 2019. The Group targets to increase the number of workers there to around 6,000, and the 
monthly capacity to five million pieces of headwear products. When it is fully utilised, full capacity 
in Bangladesh will rise from around 75% to 90% of the Group’s total capacity. The Group will also 
further increase the production skills of workers there so they can handle more orders of high-end 
headwear products.

Another challenge was the increase in the minimum wage in the garments industry since December 
2018, subsequent to the authority’s review conducted every five years. Facing the rising labour cost 
in Bangladesh, the Group has actively introduced automotive and informative production equipments, 
which can reduce its reliance on manpower and greatly improve production efficiency. As for product 
variety, the new factory can manufacture products with higher gross profit such as straw hats and 
knitted hats, to cater for demands from different orders of its brand partners. As for its factory in 
Shenzhen, it will continue serving as the Group’s product R&D and design centre, while transforming to 
support the automation of the production base in Bangladesh and providing high value-added services.

Regarding the Trading Business, it will inevitably be subject to the impact of the trade war in the short 
term. But benefitting from the investments in the previous years, the management believes that 2019 
will be time for harvest the returns. Reorganisation of H3 has also started to bear fruit. The Group 
believes that the efforts of stronger teams will achieve better results. As for SDHC, its new building in 
California, USA was in use last October 2018. SDHC and its subsidiaries have already consolidated all 
warehousing facilities in one location, and are therefore easing inventory control and management. It is 
expected to see the positive effects through better cost effectiveness in 2019. The new E-commerce 
Business has built a competitive product mix so the management has full confidence in its prospects.
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Besides, as the retail markets in Mainland China and Hong Kong have been highly volatile in these 
years, the management is considering to explore the opportunity to terminate the Retail Business. 
The Group and Sanrio intend to match Sanrio’s long-term development strategy, thus the Group is 
exploring the possibility of transferring the entire Retail Business in the Greater China Region to Sanrio, 
comprising operations, staff, stores, inventory, etc. However, details have yet to be discussed by both 
parties and a final decision has yet to be made. As for the sales of headwear products, the Group 
has only one NOP brand self-operated store in Hong Kong. Since the lease will expire in June 2019, 
the Group will then officially retreat from the retail market of Hong Kong. After the Retail Business 
is terminated, the Group will focus resources on developing the core Manufacturing Business and 
enhancing the Trading Business.

Leveraging on our sound foundation built over the previous three decades and the well-established 
layout of production bases in Bangladesh, the management has confidence to lead the Group to 
successfully tackle more challenges and generate the best returns for shareholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of Mainland Headwear, I would like to express sincere gratitude to our shareholders, staff, 
customers and suppliers for their long-term support of the Group.

Ngan Hei Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong
18 March 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits and a 
portfolio of liquid investments totaling Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) 112.2 million (2017: HK$207.1 
million). About 37% and 31% of these liquid funds were denominated in Renminbi and United States 
dollars respectively and the remaining were mainly in Hong Kong dollars and Pound Sterling.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had banking facilities of HK$381.3 million (2017: HK$364.4 
million), of which HK$219.4 million (2017: HK$233.0 million) was not utilised.

The gearing ratio (being the Group’s borrowings over equity) of the Group was 21.0% (2017: 16.7%). 
In view of the strong financial and liquidity position, the Group have sufficient financial resources to 
meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year, the Group spent HK$118.6 million (2017: HK$81.7 million) on the construction of a 
commercial building in the USA and a factory building in Bangladesh. The Group spent approximately 
HK$18.5 million (2017: HK$21.2 million) on additions to plant and equipment and on additions to 
land to upgrade its manufacturing capability and expansion in the Bangladesh factory. The Group 
also spent HK$0.6 million (2017: HK$2.8 million) in 2018 on equipments and systems of Trading and 
Retail business.
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The Group budgeted HK$64.3 million for capital expenditures of which HK$61.8 million is estimated 
to be used for the construction of a factory building and expansion in the Bangladesh under 
Manufacturing business. The Group also authorised a capital commitment of HK$2.5 million for the 
equipment and system upgrades for Trading business.

The above capital expenditure is expected to be financed by internal resources of the Group and 
banking facilities.

EXCHANGE RISK

Most assets and liabilities of the Group are denominated either in Hong Kong dollars, United States 
dollars, Renminbi or Bangladesh Taka. The Group estimates that any 1% appreciation of the Renminbi 
or Bangladesh Taka is expected to reduce the gross margin of the Manufacturing Business by about 
0.2% and 0.2% respectively.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

At 31 December 2018, the Group employed 1,211 (2017: 1,485) employees in the PRC (include Hong 
Kong), 4,675 (2017: 4,112) employees in Bangladesh and a total of 57 (2017: 42) employees in the 
USA and the United Kingdom. The expenditures for employees during the year were approximately 
HK$250.2 million (2017: HK$250.1 million). The Group ensures that the pay levels of its employees 
are competitive and employees were remunerated based on their position and performance. Key 
employees of the Group, including Directors, are also granted share options under the share option 
schemes operated by the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung

aged 63, is the Chairman of the Company and co-founder of the Group. Mr. Ngan is responsible 
for the production activities of the Group. Mr. Ngan obtained a bachelor degree from 福建農業學
院 (Fujian Agricultural College) (now known as 福建農林大學 (Fujian Agricultural University, the “FA 
University”)) in 1982 and currently is a guest professor of the FA University. Mr. Ngan has about 30 
years of experience in the headwear industry. He is presently the Honorary Adviser and Fellowship 
of the Asian College of Knowledge Management. Mr. Ngan was a director of Yan Oi Tong in 2007. 
Mr. Ngan is the spouse of Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP and the father of Mr. Andrew Ngan 
and Mr. Ngan Siu Hon Alexander.

Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP

aged 59, is the Deputy Chairman and Managing Director of the Company and co-founder of the 
Group. She is responsible for the marketing activities of the Manufacturing Business. She has about 
30 years of experience in the headwear industry. Madam Ngan is the spouse of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung 
and the mother of Mr. Andrew Ngan and Mr. Ngan Siu Hon Alexander. She was the chairman of Po 
Leung Kuk and Yan Oi Tong, and the president of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council. She is 
also the Hong Kong Deputy to the 12th and 13th National People’s Congress, People’s Republic of 
China, the ex-officio member and ex-officio executive committee of Heung Yee Kuk New Territories, 
the standing committee member of the Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, member of Advisory 
Board, Po Leung Kuk, the president honoris causa of Hong Kong Young Industrials Council, the 
honorary president and standing director of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese Association, 
the committee member of All-China Women’s Federation, the standing committee member of All-China 
Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese and the vice chairman of Hubei Province Federation of 
Returned Overseas Chinese. Madam Ngan is the winner of Young Industrialist Awards of Hongkong 
2001 and also won an Executive Director Award in the “Directors of the Year Awards 2004” organised 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors, and the Owner-Operator Award in the DHL/SCMP Hong 
Kong Business Awards 2004. She was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region 2009 Honours List and JP (Justice of the Peace) Title in 2013.

Mr. James S. Patterson

aged 48, was appointed as Executive Director of the Company in April 2009. Mr. Patterson graduated 
from the State University of New York at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY, USA and completed a Bachelor Degree 
in Economics. Mr. Patterson has been employed for more than 20 years with New Era Cap Co., Inc. 
(“New Era”), a US based company which is engaged in the global marketing, sale, and manufacturing 
of headwear and apparel. Mr. Patterson is holding the position of chief operating officer and senior 
vice president of New Era.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Maggie Gu

aged 41, first joined the Company during May 2003 to May 2008 and rejoined as Sales and Marketing 
Director in February 2009. Ms. Gu was appointed as the Executive Director of the Company in February 
2012 and as the Chief Operating Officer of the Company in September 2012. She studied in United 
States of America, and graduated from the California State University Fullerton, with the degree of 
Bachelor of Arts in Communications. She managed the global marketing department with a reputable 
media company in US before she returned to Hong Kong. She is now responsible for the strategy 
formulation and direction of global marketing and business development of the Group and oversees 
the Company’s daily operations.

Mr. Ngan Siu Hon Alexander

aged 28, joined the Company in November 2014 and appointed as the Executive Director of the 
Company in December 2015. He graduated from Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana, USA 
in 2013 with a Bachelor of Science degree in Economics. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Ngan 
worked at a well-known investment bank in Hong Kong. He is the son of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and 
Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP and brother of Mr. Andrew Ngan.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William

aged 69, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in March 2000. 
Mr. Leung graduated from the Department of Accountancy of Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as 
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University). He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of 
Hong Kong. He is also a member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and the Society 
of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Leung is currently a practising director of two certified 
public accountants firms in Hong Kong. He is also presently independent non-executive directors 
of Lai Sun Garment (International) Limited, Lai Sun Development Company Limited and Crocodile 
Garments Limited, which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP

aged 73, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in August 2006. 
Mr. Liu is a merchant. He is an Advisory Member of the Business Forum of China National Committee 
for Pacific Economic Corporation of Pacific Economic Cooperation Council, the Honorary President of 
The Hong Kong Commerce and Industry Associations and the Vice Chairman of The Chinese General 
Chamber of Commerce.
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Mr. Gordon Ng

aged 54, obtained his Bachelor’s degree in Microbiology and Biochemistry and Master’s degree in 
Intellectual Property from University of London. He was qualified as a solicitor in England and Wales 
in 1993 and Hong Kong in 1994. He has been the Head of Corporate Finance/Capital Market, Asia 
of the Hong Kong Office of an international law firm since July 2013. Prior to that, he had been a 
partner of a number of international law firms. Mr. Ng is presently an independent non-executive 
director of China Energine International (Holdings) Limited and ZTE Corporation which are listed on 
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

CONSULTANT

Mr. Andrew Ngan

aged 31, joined the Company in March 2018 as consultant. Mr. Ngan was the non-executive director 
of the Company from July 2011 to June 2017. Mr. Ngan is a merchant. He is a Director of Po Leung 
Kuk (2018–2019), the Committee Member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference 
of Hunan Province, a member of Hunan Youth Federation and a director of the Hong Kong Youth 
Association of Fujian Overseas Friendship Association. Mr. Ngan graduated from the Carnegie Mellon 
University, Pittsburgh, USA. He completed a Bachelor of Science Degree in Information Systems in 
2010. He is the son of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP and the 
brother of Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lai Man Sing, Thomas

aged 51, firstly joined the Company during July 1999 to May 2001 and rejoined the Company in March 
2008. He is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and in charge of the finance department. Mr. 
Lai obtained his first degree from London School of Economics and Political Science, University of 
London, UK and earned a Master degree in Business Administration from University of Western Sydney, 
Australia. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) charterholder. He is also a fellow member of the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of The Australian Society 
of Certified Practising Accountants. He took senior financial position for sizable listed companies and 
worked in international accounting field for many years.

Mr. Raj Kapoor

aged 58, is the managing director of the Group’s Europe operations. Mr. Kapoor obtained a bachelor 
degree from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne in the United Kingdom (“UK”) and has over 20 
years of experience in the headwear industry in Europe. He joined the Group in March 2005 when 
the Group set up its subsidiary in the UK.
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Mr. John Astleford

aged 49, is the Managing Director of the Group’s US operations. He has more than 20 years of 
experience in the apparel and accessory industry. He has served on the Executive Committee and/or 
Board of 5 different companies. Mr. Astleford has previously held business unit leadership positions 
in sales, marketing, merchandising, and licensing in both private and public companies. He has a 
BBA in Marketing from Texas Christian University.

Mr. Michael Ball

aged 50, joined the Company in 2010. He is the sales director of the Group’s Europe operations. He 
has more than 20 years experience in the sales and marketing of headwear products.

Mr. Omar Cantu

aged 48, is the Chief Operating Officer of H3 Sportgear, LLC. Mr. Cantu joined the Company in 2017. 
He has over 20 years experience in the licensed apparel, headwear and accessory industry. Mr. 
Cantu has previously held executive positions overseeing operations, accounting, human resources 
and licensing in privately held companies.

Mr. Lau Ka Fai, Edward

aged 52, joined the Company in February 2009 and is the Product Development Director. Mr. Lau 
graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with 
a Bachelor of Arts in Fashion Design (with commendation). He holds a Master Degree in Business 
Administration in Management from Southeastern University Washington, DC. He is also a Diploma 
Member of the Chartered Society of Designers London. He has worked in creative and design areas 
within several global buying offices for more than 20 years and is now responsible for design and 
product development in the US and Asia.

Ms. Leung Ka Pik, Ada

aged 57, joined the Company in December 2007 and is the Human Resources and Administrative 
Director. She holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from University of Canberra, Australia. 
She had worked in two listed apparel companies and international accounting firm for many years.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices. The 
Board considers shareholders can maximise their benefits from good corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND THE COMPANY’S PRACTICES

A. Directors

A.1. Board of Directors

An issuer should be headed by an effective board which should assume responsibility for 
leadership and control of the issuer and be collectively responsible for promoting the success 
of the issuer by directing and supervising the issuer’s affairs. Directors should take decisions 
objectively in the interests of the issuer.

Regular Board meetings are held at quarterly intervals. In addition, special Board meetings will 
be held when necessary. Attendance of individual Directors at shareholders’ meetings and board 
meetings in 2018 are as follows:

Shareholders’ 
Meeting

Board  
Meeting    

Number of meetings 1 4

Executive Directors
Mr. Ngan Hei Keung (Chairman) 1/1 4/4
Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP (Deputy Chairman and 

Managing Director)
1/1 4/4

Mr. James S. Patterson 0/1 3/4
Ms. Maggie Gu (Chief Operating Officer) 1/1 4/4
Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander 1/1 4/4

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William 1/1 4/4
Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP 1/1 3/4
Mr. Gordon Ng 1/1 3/4

Directors are consulted to include matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings.
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Dates of regular Board meetings are scheduled at least 14 days in advance to provide sufficient 
notice to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. For all other Board meetings, reasonable 
notice will be given.

Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board 
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

Minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee are kept by the Company Secretary. Minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable 
time on reasonable notice by any Director.

Minutes of the Board and Board Committees have recorded in sufficient detail the matters 
considered by the Board and the Committees, decisions reached, including any concerns raised 
by Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final versions of minutes of the Board are 
sent to all Directors for their comments and records respectively.

The Board shall resolve to provide separate independent professional advice to Directors to 
assist Directors to discharge their duties at the Company’s expense.

A.2. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There are two key aspects of the management of every issuer — the management of the board 
and the day-to-day management of the issuer’s business. There should be a clear division of 
these responsibilities at the board level to ensure a balance of power and authority, so that 
power is not concentrated in any one individual.

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be 
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung is the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Ngan oversees the management of the 
manufacturing facilities of the Group and also provides leadership for the Board. He ensures that 
the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate 
issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. Mr. Ngan is also responsible to ensure 
that all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings and that all directors 
receive adequate information, which must be complete and reliable, in a timely manner. Mr. 
Ngan is the husband of Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP.

Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP is the Deputy Chairman and Managing Director of the 
Company. She is responsible for the marketing activities of the Group’s Manufacturing Business. 
Madam Ngan is the wife of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung.

The Board considers that there is adequate segregation of duties within the Board to ensure a 
balance of power and authority.
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A.3. Board Composition

The board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the 
business of the issuer. The board should ensure that changes to its composition can be managed 
without undue disruption. The board should include a balanced composition of executive and 
non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) so that there is a strong 
independent element on the board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement. Non-
executive directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for their views to carry weight.

The Board comprises five Executive Directors, namely Mr. Ngan Hei Keung, Madam Ngan Po 
Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP, Mr. James S. Patterson, Ms. Maggie Gu and Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander; 
and three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William, Mr. Liu Tieh 
Ching, Brandon, JP and Mr. Gordon Ng. All Directors are expressly identified by categories of 
Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors, in all corporate communications 
that disclose the names of Directors of the Company.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules in relation to the 
appointment of a sufficient number of independent non-executive directors and an independent 
non-executive director with appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related 
financial management expertise.

According to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, it is recommended that serving more than nine 
years could be relevant to the determination of a non-executive director’s independence. If an 
independent non-executive director serves more than nine years, any further appointment of such 
independent non-executive director should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved 
by shareholders.

Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William and Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP have been appointed as 
independent non-executive directors for more than nine years. The Company has received from 
Mr. Leung and Mr. Liu confirmations of independence according to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. 
Mr. Leung and Mr. Liu have not engaged in any executive management of the Group. Taking 
into consideration of their independent scope of work in the past years, the Directors consider 
Mr. Leung and Mr. Liu to be independent under the Listing Rules despite the fact that they have 
served the Company for more than nine years. The Board believes that Mr. Leung’s and Mr. 
Liu’s continued tenure brings considerable stability to the Board and the Board has benefited 
greatly from the contribution of Mr. Leung and Mr. Liu in relation to their extensive experience 
in accounting and finance fields, and commercial business field respectively.

Biographies which include relationships of Directors are set out in pages 11 to 13 of the annual 
report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and qualifications among 
members of the Board.

All Directors attended Corporate Governance training course organised by the Company’s legal 
advisers, or read the materials provided by the Company’s legal advisers during the year under 
review.
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The Chairman has held one meeting with all the Independent Non-executive Directors without 
the presence of other executive Directors to discuss of the Company’s business during the year 
under review.

A.4. Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises that increasing diversity at the Board level will support the attainment 
of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable development.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the approach to achieve and 
maintain diversity on the Board.

Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through 
the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and other qualities. The 
Company also takes into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time to 
time in determining the optimal composition of the Board.

A.5. Appointments, Re-election and Removal of Directors — Nomination Committee

There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointment of new 
directors to the board. There should be plans in place for orderly succession for appointments 
to the board. All directors should be subject to re-election at regular intervals. An issuer must 
explain the reasons for the resignation or removal of any director.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific 
term, subject to re-election.

According to the Company’s bye-law No. 87, at each annual general meeting, one-third of 
the Directors for the time being (or, if the member is not three or a multiple of three, then the 
number nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided 
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term, the Chairman of the Board 
and Managing Director of the Company) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once 
every three years.

All Directors of the Company have a specific term of appointment and all the Independent 
Non-executive Directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in 
accordance with the Company’s bye-law No. 87.

All Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition are subject to election by 
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.

The nomination committee was formed in March 2012 with specific written terms of reference in 
compliance with the Code. This Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon JP. The 
other members are Mr. Ngan Hei Keung, Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William, Mr. Gordon Ng and Mr. 
Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander. During the year of 2018, one nomination committee meeting was held, 
which was attended by all members of the Committee except for Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Mr. 
Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander.
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Nomination Committee has considered measurable objectives based on their professional 
experience and ethnicity to implement the board diversity policy. Such objectives will be reviewed 
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the progress made towards achieving 
those objectives will be ascertained. Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy, 
as appropriate, to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to time.

A proposal for the appointment of a new Director will be considered and reviewed by the Board. 
All candidates must be able to meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the 
Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director 
should also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

A.6. Director Nomination Policy

Director Nomination Policy of the Group is in place and was updated in the year taking into 
consideration the revised Listing Rules effective from 1 January 2019. The updated policy sets 
out the procedures, process and criteria for identifying and recommending candidates for election 
to the Board of Directors. No candidate was nominated for directorship in 2018.

A.7. Responsibilities of Directors

Every director is required to keep abreast of the responsibilities as a director of an issuer and 
of the conduct, business activities and development of that issuer. Given the essential unitary 
nature of the board, non-executive directors have the same duties of care and skill and fiduciary 
duties as executive directors.

Every newly appointed director of the Company is ensured to have a proper understanding of 
the operations and business of the Group and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities under 
statue and common law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal and regulatory requirements and 
the business governance policies of the Group. The Directors are continually updated with legal 
and regulatory developments, business and strategic development of the Group to enable the 
discharge of their responsibilities.

All Independent Non-executive Directors take an active role in board meetings to bring in 
independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, 
resources, key appointments and standards of conducts. They scrutinise the Company’s 
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitor the reporting of 
performance. They also take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise and serve the 
audit and remuneration committees.

Every Director is aware that he/she should give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the 
Company.
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The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. All Directors have confirmed, following 
enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the required standard set out in Model 
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

A.8. Supply of and Access to Information

Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate information in such form and 
of such quality as will enable them to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties 
and responsibilities as directors of an issuer.

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable in all other cases, an agenda 
and accompanying board papers are sent in full to all Directors in a timely manner and at least 
3 days before the intended date of a Board or Board Committee meeting.

Management are regularly reminded by the Company Secretary that they have an obligation to 
supply the Board and its Committees with adequate information in a timely manner to enable 
it to make informed decisions. The information supplied must be complete and reliable. The 
Board and each Director shall have separate and independent access to the Company’s senior 
management.

All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers, minutes and related materials. Where 
queries are raised by Directors, steps are taken to respond as promptly and fully as possible.

B. Remuneration of directors and senior management

B.1. The Level and Make-up of Remuneration and Disclosure

An issuer should disclose information relating to its directors’ remuneration policy and other 
remuneration related matters. There should be a formal and transparent procedure for setting 
policy on executive directors’ remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages for all 
directors. Levels of remuneration should be sufficient to attract and retain the directors needed 
to run the company successfully, but companies should avoid paying more than necessary for 
this purpose. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with specific written terms of reference 
as set out in Code Provisions B.1.3 (a) to (f) of the Code. The Remuneration Committee is 
responsible for making recommendations to the Board regarding the Company’s remuneration 
policy, and for the formulation and review of the specific remuneration packages of all Executive 
Directors and senior executives of the Group.

A majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are Independent Non-executive 
Directors. This Committee was chaired by Mr. Gordon Ng. The other members were Madam 
Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP, Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William, Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP 
and Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander.
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting in 2018, which was attended by all members of 
the Committee except for Madam Ngan Po Ling, BBS, JP and Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander. The 
Committee had considered the following proposals for the remuneration of Directors and senior 
management and made recommendation to the Board:

1. Annual salary review policy;

2. Offer of share options as part of the long term incentive schemes; and

3. Performance related bonus.

The Group ensures that the pay levels of its employees, including Directors and senior 
management, are competitive and employees are remunerated based on their positions and 
performance. Key employees of the Group are also granted share options under the share option 
schemes operated by the Company.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for 2018 are set out in note 36 to the financial 
statements. Details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in the Report of 
the Director and note 26 to the financial statements.

The remuneration of senior management whose names appear in the “Biographical Details of 
Directors and Senior Management” section are within the following bands:

2018 2017

HK$1 — HK$500,000 — —

HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 2 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 — —

HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 2 1
HK$2,000,001 — HK$3,000,000 3 3
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 — —

HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 — —

HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 — —  

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources, including access to 
professional advice, to discharge its duties if considered necessary.
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C. Accountability and audit

C.1. Financial Reporting

The board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the company’s 
performance, position and prospects.

Management has provided such explanation and information to the Board as would enable the 
Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and other information put before the 
Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to keep proper accounting records and prepare 
financial statements of each financial period, which shall give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, the Directors have made judgements and 
estimates that are prudent and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going 
concern basis.

A statement by the auditor about his reporting responsibilities is included in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report on pages 55 to 62 of the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Board’s responsibility to present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment extends 
to annual and interim reports, other price-sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures 
required under the Listing Rules, and reports to regulators as well as information required to be 
disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

C.2. Internal Controls

The board should ensure that the issuer maintains sound and effective internal controls to 
safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the issuer’s assets.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and for reviewing its 
effectiveness through the Audit Committee. The Board requires management to establish and 
maintain sound and effective internal controls. Review of the Group’s internal controls covering 
financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management functions on different 
systems is done on a systematic rotational basis based on the risk assessments of the operations 
and controls.

C.3. Audit Committee

The board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it will 
apply the financial reporting and internal control principles and for maintaining an appropriate 
relationship with the company’s auditor. The audit committee established by an issuer pursuant 
to the Listing Rules should have clear terms of reference.
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The Company has established an Audit Committee with specific written terms of reference which 
deal clearly with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee have 
included the duties set out in Code Provisions C.3.3 (a) to (n) of the Code, with appropriate 
modifications where necessary. The Audit Committee has made available its terms of reference, 
on the website of the Company, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board.

As set out in the terms of reference, the Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the financial 
reporting system and internal control procedures, annual report and financial statements and 
interim report.

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company 
and is chaired by Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William. This Committee held two meetings in 2018 which 
were attended by all members of the Committee except for Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP who 
attended one meeting. External auditor attended one meeting in 2018.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during the year:

1. Reviewed external auditor audit committee report and management’s response;

2. Reviewed and recommended to the Board approval of the audit fee proposal for 2018;

3. Considered and recommended to the Board that the shareholders be asked to re-appoint 
the existing auditor as the Company’s external auditor for 2019;

4. Reviewed and approved the Group’s internal audit plan for 2019;

5. Reviewed internal audit reports, and internal controls report and risk management report 
and brought to the attention of Management on internal control issues and high risk areas;

6. Reviewed the audited financial statements and final results announcement for the year 
2017; and

7. Reviewed the Interim Report and the interim results announcement for the six months ended 
30 June 2018.

8. Reviewed the determination and reporting of key audit matters.
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All issues raised by the Committee have been addressed by Management. The work and findings 
of the Committee have been reported to the Board. During the year, no issues brought to the 
attention of Management and the Board were of sufficient importance to require disclosure in 
the Annual Report.

The Board agrees with the Audit Committee’s proposal for the re-appointment of existing auditor 
as the Company’s external auditor for 2019.

The remuneration of the Group’s external auditor is HK$2,195,000 for audit fees and HK$117,000 
for other non-assurance services.

Full minutes of Audit Committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary. Draft and final 
versions of minutes of the Audit Committee meetings are sent to all members of the Committee 
for their comments and records respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after the 
meeting.

The Audit Committee does not have a former partner of the Company’s existing audit firm. The 
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

D. DIVIDEND POLICY

Policy on Payment of Dividend of the Company is in place setting out the factors in determination 
of dividend payment of the Company, the Company’s long-term earning capacity and expected 
cash inflow and outflow, the frequency and form of dividend payments. The policy shall be 
reviewed periodically and submitted to the Board for approval if amendments are required.
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E. Internal controls and Risk management report

During the year, the Group has complied with the Code Provision C.2 of the CG Code by 
establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal control system.

 (i) Control Environment

The Group operates within an established control environment and it comprises four layers 
of roles and responsibilities to manage risk and internal control:

Role Accountability Responsibilities

High level review Board Overall responsibility for the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems; 
oversees the controls for strategic and 
operational risks and monitors the effectiveness 
of the existing control systems through Audit 
Committee.

Supervision Audit Committee Supporting the Board in monitoring the 
performance of corporate governance, 
financial reporting, risk management and 
internal control systems; reviews risks raised 
during annual risk register execute; approves 
risk tolerance.

Risk and control 
owner

Managers of 
headquarters and 
business units

Day to day execution and monitoring of internal 
control; strategic policies and operating 
guidelines formulation and execution.

Risk monitoring and 
communication

CFO, company 
secretary and 
internal audit 
team

Evaluation of risk management and internal 
controls to identify areas for improvement; 
monitoring of corporate governance disclosure, 
statutory and listing rules compliance; 
undertaking of investigations.

 (ii) Risk Assessment

The Group’s risk management process is embedded into our strategy formulation, 
business planning, capital allocation, investment decisions, internal controls and day 
to day operations. Management is responsible for performing risk assessments and 
owning the design, implementation and maintenance of controls. Finance Department, 
Human Resources Department, Compliance Department and external professionals provide 
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assistance and expertise management to help it in undertaking its responsibilities. Major 
identified risks are recorded in the risk register which has been monitored and updated 
regularly to reflect the latest development of situations.

Executive directors communicate regularly with each individual business unit/department 
heads to identify day to day operational risks and find ways to mitigate them if any.

Regarding financial risks, the board approves Company’s yearly financial budgets and 
reviews its operating and financial performance and key performance indicators against the 
budget on a semiannual basis. Management closely monitors the financial reports of each 
business unit on a monthly basis against budget to detect material deviation at business 
unit level. Board approval is required for all significant capital investment or acquisition 
decisions.

Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Human Resources and Administrative 
Director work with external legal and financial advisors to review adherence to relevant 
laws and regulations, Listing Rules compliance, public disclosure requirements and our 
standards of compliance practices.

 (iii) Control Activities

Among others, control activities include approvals and verifications, reviews, safeguarding 
of assets and segregation of duties. They are performed by personnel at different levels 
within the Group with the support of well-defined policies and procedures:

Top-level reviews: Conducting review of performance versus budget. For all three 
business sectors (manufacturing, trading and retails,) monthly 
operation update and financial reports are discussed between 
business unit heads and Headquarters management to manage 
operational and financial risks. Besides, for manufacturing 
business units, monthly production quantity target and defect 
rate target are set to the factories. Bi weekly KPI meetings 
and weekly production meetings are held to monitor the actual 
performance.

Information processing: Many control functions on accuracy, completeness and 
authorization of transactions are built-in in ERP system and 
exception report can be generated for follow up actions if 
required.

Physical controls: Inventory and major fixed assets are safeguarded by designed 
personnel and locations and are subject to periodic checks.

Segregation of duties: If situation allows, the Group divides and segregates duties 
amongst different people, to strengthen checks and minimize 
the risks of errors or abuses.
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 (iv) Information and Communication

Information that gathered by business units from customers, suppliers, employees and 
relevant trade organizations and authorities are discussed internally and are shared with 
Hong Kong headquarters management formally or informally to facilitate decision making 
process. Management report to the board up to date status on performance, developments, 
significant risks and major initiatives and other relevant issues, and the board, in turn, 
communicate to management what information it needs and provide directions and 
feedbacks. There are at least four board meetings every year.

 (v) Monitoring

Monitoring ensures that internal control continues to operate effectively. It involves 
assessment by appropriate personnel of the design and operation of controls and taking 
of suitable follow-up actions.

The Board and Audit Committee oversee the process, assisted by internal audit team. There 
are two audit committee meetings annually. 2019 audit plan and internal audit report were 
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. No significant internal control weaknesses 
in 2018 is noted.

Our external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, performs independent statutory audits of the 
Group’s financial statements and reports to the Audit Committee any significant weaknesses 
in our internal control procedures which come to its notice during the course of the audit.

 Overall Assessment

1. The risk management and internal controls and accounting systems of the Group were 
in place and functioning effectively, and were designed to provide reasonable but not 
absolute assurance that material assets were protected, business risks attributable to the 
Group were identified and monitored, material transactions were executed in accordance 
with management’s authorization and the financial statements were reliable to produce.

2. There was an ongoing process in place for identifying, evaluating and managing the 
significant risks faced by the Group.

3. The resources, qualifications, experience, training programs and budget of the employees 
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting teams were adequate.
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E. Delegation by the Board

E.1. Management Functions

An issuer should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the board for its 
decision. The board should give clear directions to management as to the matters that must be 
approved by the board before decisions are made on behalf of the issuer.

The Board is responsible for formulating overall strategy, monitoring and controlling the 
performance of the Group whilst managing the Group’s business is the responsibility of 
Management.

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and administration functions to 
Management, it has given clear directions as to the powers of Management, in particular, with 
respect to the circumstances where Management shall report back and obtain prior approval from 
the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

The Company has established schedules of Matters Reserved to the Board for Decision and 
Matters Delegated to Management. The Board shall review those arrangements on a periodic 
basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Matters Reserved to the Board for Decision include:

1. Business plan;

2. Financial statements and budget;

3. Mergers and acquisitions and other substantial investments;

4. Formation of board committees;

5. Appointment and resignation of directors; and

6. Appointment and removal of auditors.
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E.2. Board Committees

Board committees should be formed with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly 
with the committees’ authority and duties.

Apart from Audit Committee (particulars are disclosed under C.3), Remuneration Committee 
(particulars are disclosed under B.1) and Nomination Committee (particulars are disclosed under 
A.4), there are no other board committees established by the Board. Where board committees are 
established to deal with matters, the Board shall prescribe sufficiently clear terms of reference 
to enable such committees to discharge their functions properly. The terms of reference of 
board committees shall require such committees to report back to the board on their decisions 
or recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on their ability to do so.

F. Company Secretary

Ms. Chan Hoi Ying, the Company Secretary of the Company, confirmed that she has taken no 
less than 15 hours relevant professional training during the financial year.

G. Communication with shareholders

G.1. Effective Communication

The board should endeavour to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, 
use annual general meetings or other general meetings to communicate with shareholders and 
encourage their participation.

At the 2018 Annual General Meeting, a separate resolution was proposed by the Chairman in 
respect of each separate issue, including the re-election of Directors.

The Chairman of the Board and the chairmen of the Audit and Remuneration Committees shall 
attend the 2019 Annual General Meeting to answer questions of shareholders.

G.2. Procedures for putting forward proposals at general meetings

Any shareholder who wish to put forward proposals at general meetings of the Company shall 
submit such proposals to the Board in writing for the boards consideration not less than 7 days 
prior to the date of a general meeting through the Company Secretary.

The Company also published all corporate correspondence on the Company website, 
www.mainland.com.hk.

G.3. Voting by Poll

The right to demand a poll was set out in the circular to shareholders of the Company dispatched 
together with the Annual Report. The results of the voting by poll would be published on the 
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in submitting their annual report together 
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities and other 
particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of segmental information are set out in note 5 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

An interim dividend of 2 HK cents (2017: 2 HK cent) per share, totaling HK$8,106,000 was paid on 
12 October 2018. The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 3 HK cents (2017: 
3 HK cents) per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018. Subject to the approval at 
the forthcoming annual general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on or after 20 June 2019 
to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of members at the close of the business 
on 24 May 2019.

To determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting which will be held on 20 May 2019, the register of members of the Company will 
be closed from 15 May 2019 to 20 May 2019 (both dates inclusive). In order to qualify to attend the 
Annual General Meeting, all transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged 
with the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell 
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 14 May 2019.

To determine the identity of members who are entitled to the final dividend of the Company for the 
year ended 31 December 2018, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 27 May 
2019 to 30 May 2019 (both dates inclusive). In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all 
transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s Hong 
Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road 
East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 24 May 2019.

No arrangement has been made under which a shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any 
dividends.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years 
is set out on page 146.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable to the major customers 
and suppliers respectively during the financial year is as follows:

Percentage of  
the Group’s total

Purchases Sales   
The largest customer — 47.5%
Five largest customers in aggregate — 71.3%
The largest supplier 23.03% —

Five largest suppliers in aggregate 58.35% —

As at 31 December 2018, New Era Cap Co., Inc., New Era Cap Company Ltd and New Era Japan GK, 
major customers of the Group, were affiliated companies of New Era Cap Hong Kong LLC (“NEHK”). 
NEHK holds 19.64% equity interest in the Company. Mr. Christopher Koch owns 75% of the issued 
share capital of NEHK.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company 
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had 
an interest in these major customers or suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent HK$137,744,000 (2017: HK$116,750,000) on construction of an office 
and warehouse in the US, and a factory building in Bangladesh. It also includes plant and equipment 
to upgrade its manufacturing capabilities. Details of movements in property, plant and equipment are 
set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued in the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 25 to the 
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are set out in note 35 to the 
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available for cash distribution amounted to 
HK$489,752,000 (2017: HK$423,504,000) as computed in accordance with the Companies Act 
1981 of Bermuda. In addition, the Company’s share premium account of HK$167,016,000 (2017: 
HK$166,836,000) as at 31 December 2018 may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share options granted to directors and selected employee

Details of the share options granted in prior years is set out in note 26 of the financial statements 
and “Share Options” section in this Report of the Directors. For the shares granted, 150,000 shares 
were issued during the year.

DONATIONS

HK$30,000 charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year (2017: HK$332,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung (Chairman)
Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP (Deputy Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. James S. Patterson
Ms. Maggie Gu (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William
Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP

Mr. Gordon Ng

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors an annual 
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the 
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting 
in accordance with the Bye-Laws No. 87 of the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Law No. 87, Mr. James S. Patterson, Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, 
Alexander and Mr. Brandon Liu Tieh Ching, JP shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting. All of the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung, Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP, Ms. Maggie Gu and Mr. Ngan 
Siu Hon, Alexander has entered into a service contract with the Company which may be terminated 
by not less than six months’ notice in writing served by either party.

Each of Mr. James S. Patterson, Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William, Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP and 
Mr. Gordon Ng has entered into a service contract with the Company, which may be terminated by 
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has an unexpired service contract with the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment 
of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS 
AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE 
COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in notes 23 and 33 to the financial statements and in the section “Connected 
Transaction” below, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which the 
Company’s subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a Director of the Company 
and the Director’s connected party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 
the end of the year or at any time during the year. The Company has complied with the disclosure 
requirements set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(i) During the year, the Group paid rental totaling HK$1,560,000 and HK$162,000 under operating 
lease in respect of office premises to a company beneficially owned by Mr. Ngan Hei Keung, 
and in respect of office premises jointly owned by Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po 
Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP respectively.

(ii) On 30 September 2014, the Company renewed a manufacturing agreement (the “Manufacturing 
Agreement”) with New Era Cap Hong Kong LLC (“NEHK”), pursuant to which NEHK agreed to 
purchase products from the Company with minimum purchase commitments for the five financial 
years ended 31 December 2019. Under the Contingent Purchase Deed, NEHK is entitled to 
require Mr. Ngan Hei Keung (“Mr. Ngan”) and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP, (“Madam 
Ngan”) who are executive directors and controlling shareholders of the Company to purchase up 
to 39,800,000 shares of the Company from subscription and exercise of the option and owned 
by NEHK over a six months period after a notice is served by NEHK, if NEHK have agreed to 
give purchase commitment under the Manufacturing Agreement on the occurrence of several 
events.
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 On 8 December 2017, independent shareholders of the Company approved the Manufacturing 
Agreement and the maximum aggregate annual value of supply transactions for the two years 
ended 31 December 2019 are HK$545,761,000 and HK$661,300,000 respectively.

 During the year ended 31 December 2018, affiliated companies of NE purchased goods totalling 
HK$447,405,000 from the Group.

 Due to the interest in and benefits that Mr. Ngan and Madam Ngan (who are connected 
persons of the Company as they are Directors) can derive from Contingent Purchase Deed, the 
Manufacturing Agreement (including the supply transactions, subscription and grant of option) 
will constitute connected transaction and continuing connected transaction under the Listing 
Rules.

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by independent non-executive 
directors of the Company. The independent non-executive directors confirmed that the aforesaid 
connection transactions were entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the 
Group; (b) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than 
terms available to or from independent third parties; (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements 
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the 
Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in 
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements 
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified 
letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions 
disclosed by the Group as above in accordance with paragraph 14A.56 of the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of this Report of the Directors, there was or is, 
any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the Company 
(whether made by the Company or otherwise) or an associated company (if made by the Company).

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the year, which 
provides appropriate cover for the Directors of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES INTERESTS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY 
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2018, the interests of the Directors in the shares and underlying shares of the 
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which had been notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO 
(including interests which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or 
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the 
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code 
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Number of shares 
Personal 

interest
Other direct 

interest
Underlying 

shares Total
Percentage 
of interest      

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung — 219,952,000  
(notes 1, 2)

50,800,000  
(notes 3, 4)

270,752,000 66.80%

Madam Ngan Po Ling,  
Pauline, BBS, JP

36,252,000  
(note 2)

183,700,000  
(note 1)

50,800,000  
(notes 3, 4)

270,752,000 66.80%

Mr. James S. Patterson — — 2,000,000  
(note 5)

2,000,000 0.49%

Ms. Maggie Gu — — 2,200,000  
(note 6)

2,200,000 0.54%

Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, 
Alexander

— — 2,000,000  
(note 7)

2,000,000 0.49%
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Notes:

(1) 183,700,000 shares are legally and beneficially owned by Successful Years International Co., Ltd., a company 
ultimately and beneficially owned by Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP as to 40% 
and 60% respectively.

(2) The 36,252,000 shares are beneficially owned by Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP the spouse of Mr. Ngan.

(3) Pursuant to the contingent purchase deed renewed on 30 September 2014 between Mr. Ngan, Madam Ngan and 
NEHK, NEHK is entitled to require Mr. Ngan and Madam Ngan to purchase up to 39,800,000 shares on the terms 
and conditions of the said deed.

(4) Mr. Ngan and Madam Ngan are entitled to subscribe for 5,000,000 shares and 6,000,000 shares respectively 
pursuant to the outstanding options granted under the Company’s share options scheme.

(5) Mr. James S. Patterson is entitled to subscribe for 2,000,000 shares pursuant to the outstanding options granted 
under the Company’s share options scheme.

(6) Ms. Maggie Gu is entitled to subscribe for 2,200,000 shares pursuant to the outstanding options granted under 
the Company’s share options scheme.

(7) Mr. Ngan Siu Hong, Alexander is entitled to subscribe for 2,000,000 shares pursuant to the outstanding options 
granted under the Company’s share options scheme.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company (including their 
spouse and children under 18 years of age) had any interests in the shares or short positions in the 
shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its specified undertaking or any of 
its associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 23 May 2002, a share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) was adopted, whereby the Board of 
Directors may, at their absolute discretion, grant options to any eligible employees, including directors 
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any invested entity, any suppliers of goods or services 
to any member of the Group or any invested entity, and any customers of the Group or any invested 
entity to subscribe for shares in the Company.

On 29 December 2011, the Old Scheme was terminated and a new share option scheme (the “New 
Scheme”) was adopted, whereby the Board of Directors, may, at their absolute discretion, grant 
options to any eligible employees, including directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or 
any invested entity, any suppliers of goods or services to any member of the Group or any interested 
entity, and any customers of the Group or any invested entity to subscribe for shares in the Company.
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The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under 
the New Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group may not in aggregate exceed 
39,858,328, being 10% of the shares in issue of the Company as at 29 December 2011, the date of 
adoption of the New Scheme. Upon refreshing of the scheme mandate limit, the Company may grant 
options entitling holders thereof to subscribe for up to a maximum of 40,532,828 shares, representing 
10% of the shares in issue of the Company as at 16 May 2018.

The exercise price of the options is the highest of the nominal value of the shares, the closing price 
of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the options and the average closing 
price of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the date 
of offer of the options.

The Old and New Schemes will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date of its adoption. 
The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected participants as 
incentive or rewards for their contributions to the Group.

Unless approved by shareholders in general meeting, the total number of shares issued and which may 
fall to be issued upon exercise of the options of the New Scheme and the options granted under any 
other schemes of the Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in any 
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company at the relevant time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New Scheme at any time during the 
period (which may not expire later than 10 years from the date of offer of that option) to be determined 
and notified by the Directors to the grantee and in the absence of such determination, from the date 
of acceptance of the offer of such option to the earlier of the date on which such option lapses in 
accordance with the terms of the New Scheme and 10 years from the date of offer of that option. A 
consideration of HK$1 will be payable upon acceptance of the offer.

As at the date of annual report, the total number of shares available for issue, save for those granted 
but yet to be exercised, under the New Scheme was 40,532,328 shares, which represented 10% of 
the issued share capital of the Company.
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At 31 December 2018, the Directors and employees of the Group had the following interests in options 
to subscribe for shares in the Company (market value per share is HK$1.1 at the balance sheet date) 
granted at nominal consideration under the share option schemes operated by the Company, each 
option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share:

Number of shares

Date of grant
Period during which  
options exercisable

Exercise 
price

Outstanding 
at 1.1.2018

Lapsed 
during  

the year

Exercised 
during  

the year
Outstanding 

at 31.12.2018

Market value 
per share at 

date of grant
HK$ HK$         

Director 23.06.2009 23.06.2010–22.06.2019 0.946 7,000,000 — — 7,000,000 0.93
15.07.2015 15.07.2016–14.07.2025 1.120 2,200,000 — — 2,200,000 1.12
13.04.2017 13.04.2018–12.04.2027 1.534 8,000,000 — — 8,000,000 1.50    

17,200,000 — — 17,200,000    

Employees 11.06.2008 11.06.2009–10.06.2018 1.190 1,000,000 (1,000,000) — — 1.16
23.06.2009 23.06.2010–22.06.2019 0.946 5,030,000 — (130,000) 4,900,000 0.93
08.11.2010 08.11.2011–07.11.2020 0.920 900,000 — — 900,000 0.92
30.12.2011 30.12.2012–29.12.2021 0.800 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000 0.80
15.07.2015 15.07.2016–14.07.2025 1.120 8,850,000 — (20,000) 8,830,000 1.12
13.04.2017 13.04.2018–12.04.2027 1.534 11,370,000 — — 11,370,000 1.50    

28,150,000 (1,000,000) (150,000) 27,000,000    

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries, its parent 
company or its associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors and chief 
executives of the Company (including their spouses or children under eighteen years of age) to hold 
any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures, of the Company 
or its specified undertakings or other associated corporation.
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Substantial shareholders’ interests and/or short positions in the shares, underlying shares of 
the Company

So far as is known to the Directors or chief executives of the Company, as at 31 December 2018, 
shareholders (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short 
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to 
the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded 
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares:

Number of shares

Name Capacity

Personal 

interest

Other  

interest

Underlying 

shares Total

Percentage 

of interest       

Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, 

BBS, JP

Beneficial owner 36,252,000 — — 36,252,000 8.94%

Interest of a controlled corporation 

(note 1)

— 183,700,000 — 183,700,000 45.32%

  

219,952,000 54.26%

Successful Years International  

Co., Ltd. (note 1)

Beneficial owner 183,700,000 — — 183,700,000 45.32%

Mr. Christopher Koch 

(note 2)

Interest of a controlled corporation — 79,601,000 — 79,601,000 19.64%

NEHK (note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 79,601,000 — — 79,601,000 19.64%

Notes:

1. Successful Years International Co., Ltd. is owned by Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, 
BBS, JP as to 40% and 60% respectively. The interests of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, 
Pauline, BBS, JP in Successful Years International Co., Ltd. are also disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ 
and Chief Executives Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or Any Specified 
Undertaking of the Company or Any other Associated Corporation” above.

2. Mr. Christopher Koch owns 75% of the issued share capital of NEHK. As such, Mr. Christopher Koch is deemed 
to be interested in the 79,601,000 shares.
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Short positions in the underlying shares:

Name

Number of  
underlying  

shares
Percentage  
of interest   

Mr. Christopher Koch 39,800,000 (note) 9.82%
NEHK 39,800,000 (note) 9.82%

Note:

Pursuant to the contingent purchase deed renewed on 30 September 2014 between Mr. Ngan, Madam Ngan and NEHK, 
NEHK is entitled to sell up to 39,800,000 shares to Mr. Ngan and Madam Ngan on the terms and conditions of the 
said deed. In view of Mr. Koch’s 75% shareholding interest in NEHK, Mr. Koch is also taken to have interest in short 
position of 39,800,000 underlying shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Company had not been notified by any 
persons (other than Directors) who had interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company 
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part 
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under 
Section 336 of the SFO.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws and there was no 
restriction against such rights under the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer 
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED 
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has not redeemed any of its shares. Neither 
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 
listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Directors confirm that, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and 
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has sufficient public float of at least 25% of the 
Company’s issued shares as at 18 March 2019, being the date of this report.
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AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Ngan Hei Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2019
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The Environmental, Social and Governance Report provides an annual update on sustainability 
performance of Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited and together with its subsidiaries for the year 
ended 31 December 2018.

The Group is committed continuously for a reduced environmental impact, better workplace safety, 
continuous provision of quality products and services for customers, and dedicated practice of people-
oriented policies. In the long run, the Group promotes sustainable development.

Our Board of Directors are responsible for supervising the environmental, social and governance 
strategies, policies and measures while our management is responsible for the execution to ensure 
the effective implementation.

The following Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) is prepared under the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited 
(“Hong Kong Exchange”) and in line with the recommended practices for all the listed companies in 
Hong Kong.

Vision:

To become the global leader and the largest supplier in the global headwear industry.

Mission:

To create value for customers, opportunities for employees and benefit for the community,  
by designing, manufacturing and promoting a wide variety of headwear products.

Core values:

Customers come �rst

With customers’ interests as our first 
priority, we are committed to providing 
them with quality products and excellent 
services.

Aggressive and innovative

We take a proactive approach in all our 
undertakings: aggressive in times of 
opportunity; positive in times of difficulty; 
and innovative in times of mediocrity.

People-oriented

We consider our staff as our most 
valuable asset. Caring, communication 
and motivation are the essential 
cornerstones for building a great team.

Serving the community

We believe the greatest value of our 
Group lies in the benefits we can create 
for the community at large. Apart from 
contributing our best in the industry, 
we also devote our time, energy and 
resources to help those who are less 
fortunate in our society.
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Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited (the “Group”) advocates a more environmental-friendly practice 
at work, particularly in the process of daily operation and supporting service.

Reducing waste 
from the origin 
(cherishing 
resources)

Full participation 
(continuous 
improvement)

Complying with 
regulations 

(caring for the 
environment)

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, ENERGY CONSERVATION AND EMISSION 
REDUCTION

Factory wastes are divided into four main categories:

General  
waste

(household waste)

General  
industrial waste

(industrial waste)

Statutory  
hazardous waste

(hazardous waste)

Recyclable  
waste

(reuseable waste)

Sources of greenhouse gas emissions generated in headwear production include carbon dioxide, 
methane and nitrous oxide, which are mainly created from power consumption and the burning of 
environmental-friendly biomass particles. Methane and nitrous oxide are generated from emissions 
of septic tanks.

Measures and achievements for emission reduction

The Group has made efforts to reduce emissions at the source by always being energy-saving and 
lowering air emissions. It can help realizing sustainable development and operation. The Group is 
committed to more efficient utilization of energy resources, water and materials, less consumption of 
natural resources and environment protection. Furthermore, targeting the factory areas with heavy 
energy consumption, the Group, put emphasis on greenhouse gas controlling waste reduction, 
categorised recycling and energy conservation and carbon reduction.
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Environmental management policies

To balance production with environmental protection, the Group strives to implement the following 
measures to protect the environment:

Environmental protection measures

Introducing an environmental management 
system with effective operation, preventing 
environmental pollution, minimizing 
environmental impact, and make continuous 
improvement for the sustainability of natural 
resources.

Optimizing production process, promoting 
clean production, reducing the emission of 
pollutants, and carrying out pollution control 
and management, with regular detection 
and inspection. Formulating environmental 
friendly policies for saving energy.

Providing more education and training, to 
improve the environmental consciousness 
of all the staff and thoroughly fulfill the 
environmental protection responsibilities.

Reducing the consumption of hazardous 
substances, and promoting the measures 
for industrial waste reduction, resource 
recycling, energy conservation and carbon 
reduction, so as to continuously improve the 
performance of environmental protection.

In respect of actual operation and management, the Group has formulated standards on environmental 
protection for its factory areas, and established a management system for independent factory with 
reference to ISO 14001 Environmental Management System.

203,669 Tonnes

Connected to the 
municipal pipeline 
network after 
sewage treatment

Energy data of 
Shenzhen Factory

Annual water 
consumption for 
production and 

domestic use of the 
Shenzhen Factory

Conforming to 
local government 

regulations

Natural gas 
16,808 L

Electricity 
5,406,600 kWh
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Energy consumption

Strategic emphases of managing energy consumption are to gradually replace fossil fuels (of high 
pollution and carbon emission) with electricity of clean fuels. Meanwhile, electric boilers and natural 
gas boilers are being used to supply steam in our factory.

In respect of energy management, it is planned to prioritize the comprehensive introduction of an 
energy monitoring system, to help factories on early detection of abnormal energy consumption and 
work out opportunities for energy conservation.

Wastewater discharge

Headwear production is not a process of considerable water consumption. Hence, staff members 
consume most of the water in the factory area for their daily life, with only a small amount needed in 
washing headwear products and processing fabrics.

In terms of the management strategy, top priority shall be given to the waste reduction from source and 
prevention of generation, and recycling & reuse and proper treatment shall be the final requirements 
for supervision.

In the headwear plant, most of the polluted water is from the domestic water of employees and a small 
part is the industrial wastewater from washing and processing for the soft and comfortable headwear 
products, and the preshrinking of cotton cloth. The factory is equipped with special sewage treatment 
station to process the industrial wastewater and domestic water for repeated utilization according to 
the water quality and treatment demands. The inspection institution recognised by the local competent 
authority has been engaged to conduct the sampling and detection of the discharged water according 
to the laws, and the wastewater is discharged upon conformity with standards.

Recycling and reuse of discharged water

The Group continuously strives to seek opportunities for the recycling and reuse of water resource 
in compliance with the management principle of the Group. The proportion of the recycled water of 
Group’s factory in Shenzhen was approximately 25% on average in the year of 2018.
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Usage and procurement of raw materials

Shenzhen Factory consumed a total of 46.3 tonnes of packaging materials for finished products in 
2018. The raw materials used for the headwear industry are divided into headwear body materials 
and headwear brim materials.

Headwear body materials
Woolen cloth, cotton  
cloth, weaved cloth,  
non-woven cloth,  
artificial leather and  
natural leather

Headwear brim
PE (polymethyl 
methacrylate) and 
environmental-friendly 
paper brim developed 
by customers

Headwear with 
environmental 
save materials

The factory keeps close communication with brand customers and suppliers for selection of raw 
materials, purchases materials from suppliers designated by customers, and chooses materials 
according to the quality standards required by brand customers. In addition, materials shall be 
inspected in accordance with the list of substance prohibited and limited by customers, and relevant 
standards of American Society for Testing and Materials and countries to which customers belong, 
and jointly explores the application of environmental save materials, in headwear with customers.

Compliance of environment and natural resource management

Based on the respect and protection of environmental resources, Shenzhen factory collects the 
pollutant emissions and entrusts qualified suppliers with treatment during the production and operation, 
in order to make proper treatment and discharge the waste upon conformity with the requirements 
of local regulations.

Exhaust gas from 
generator room

Volatile organic 
compound

Exhaust gas from  
fuel boiler

Exhaust gas from 
kitchen gas �ue

Air pollution source from factory
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Management of air pollution source

Currently, the air pollution sources of Shenzhen Factory mainly include volatile organic compounds, 
exhaust gas from fuel boiler, exhaust gas from generator room and exhaust gas from kitchen gas flue.

Air pollutant prevention and treatment strategies: Formulate the Administrative Measures for Air 
Pollution Prevention and Treatment, and evaluate the introduction of clean production process. The 
proper treatment is the final step to meet requirements of final supervision.

Waste management

The waste management strategy of Shenzhen Factory focuses on the lawful waste removal, disposal, 
reduction and recycling. All the wastes shall be removed and disposed of by the qualified contractor 
recognised by the government in accordance with the local regulations.

By December 2018, the removal, transport and disposal of all the wastes complied with requirements 
of local regulations.

EMPLOYMENT

Personnel pro�le

The group has branches in mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, USA, UK, Bangladesh, etc. According 
to the statistics, there were approximately 5,940 employees as at 31 December 2018.

Hong Kong
53

Bangladesh
4,675

UK
9

Mainland China (exclude Hong Kong)
1,155

USA
48

Labor force in position systems Hong Kong China Bangladesh USA UK      

Administrative system 50 316 190 4 2
Engineering technology system 0 78 9 0 7
Manufacturing system 0 649 4,476 12 0
Retail administrative system 0 0 0 0 0
Retail frontline system 3 66 0 13 0
Other systems 0 46 0 19 0
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Gender and age of labor force (percentage)

Region Gender Age

Female Male
Under 29 

(inclusive) 30~49
Above 50 

(inclusive)      

Hong Kong 58.5% 41.5% 5.7% 69.8% 24.5%
Mainland China  

(exclude Hong Kong) 57.1% 42.9% 11.9% 37.0% 51.1%
Bangladesh 43.5% 56.5% 73.4% 26.0% 0.6%
USA 54.2% 45.8% 12.5% 77.1% 10.4%
UK 11.1% 88.9% 0 33.3% 66.7%

Turnover Rate (percentage) — Gender and age

Region Gender Age distribution (%)

Female Male
Under 29 

(inclusive) 30~49
Above 50 

(inclusive)      

Hong Kong 44.4% 55.6% 16.7% 61.1% 22.2%
Mainland China  

(exclude Hong Kong) 60.7% 39.3% 33.7% 58.3% 8.0%
Bangladesh 36.7% 63.3% 80.0% 20.0% 0
USA 40.0% 60.0% 0 100.0% 0
UK 0 0 0 0 0

Rate of new employees (percentage) — Gender and age

Region Gender Age distribution (%)

Female Male
Under 29 

(inclusive) 30~49
Above 50 

(inclusive)      

Hong Kong 40.0% 60.0% 10.0% 60.0% 30.0%
Mainland China  

(exclude Hong Kong) 64.6% 35.4% 51.5% 43.1% 5.4%
Bangladesh 30.3% 69.7% 84.2% 15.8% 0
USA 67.0% 33.0% 67.0% 33.0% 0
UK 0 0 0 0 0
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

Safety and sanitation management

Management policies on occupational safety and sanitation

The Group believes that the safety of its customers and staff remains the highest priority. The Shenzhen 
Factory has taken all the possible measures of improving production safety and labor protection, to 
ensure the safety of customers, staff and company properties, in addition to implementing “safety first 
and prevention utmost” as its principle for safe production.

The Shenzhen Factory offers a complete set of labor protection suppliers to create a safe and healthy 
working environment for the staff for their better health, growth and performance. Moreover, the Factory 
tries to raise the staff’s awareness of safety, occupational health, fire and disaster prevention, and 
environmental protection, and applies such awareness, concepts as well as safety-related decrees and 
regulations to all aspects such as research and development (R&D), design, production, inspection 
and service.

In 2018, the Group had no work-related fatality or loss of working days due to work-related issues.

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING

The Group has been dedicated to nurture and retain talents in accordance with its mission, vision, 
business strategies and objectives, with an aim to evolve itself into a prominent corporate. Through 
the continuous education and training provided to the staff, the Group strives to enhance the level of 
merit and quality of its staff to foster a team of excellence, so as to contribute for achieving significant 
development for both the Company and all staff.

The Group encourages its staff to achieve a better understanding of the Company’s culture, code of 
conduct as well as the commitment to social responsibility, which enables the staff to grow together 
with the Company, reflecting the people-oriented vision of the Company.

Objective of education and training

The Group continuously improves the level of knowledge, ability and initiative of the staff through 
training and minimizes the consumption of manpower cost arising from the insufficient knowledge 
and ability as well as passive attitude of the staff, thus facilitating them to achieve their goals and 
self-success. The training aims to provide the Company with qualified management personnel, 
experienced technicians, sales officers and workers, so as to ensure that each staff is suitable for 
its post. According to the Group’s training strategy, trainings will be provided to each staff during 
the whole tenure of service in the Company, and will integrate the education and training into the 
staff’s career planning, aiming at promoting the synchronous development of the Company and staff 
to achieve mutual growth in the long run.
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Labor standards

Recruitment practice:

The Group is committed to acting in the principle of fairness and promoting human right policies, in 
accordance with relevant laws to each workplace and the International Covenant on Human Rights. 
The Group adopts and implements the recruitment regulations and conditions that respect workers, 
and protects their labor rights and interests in accordance with the national and international laws 
and regulations on labor and social security.

No discrimination policies and protection of working rights

To protect the staff’s working rights, no member of staff would be subject to employment discrimination 
over gender, race, religion, age, disability, sexual orientation, nationality, political view, social 
community or ethnic background. The Group acts as an equal opportunity employer.

Child labor

The Group will not recruit child labor under the age stipulated by local regulations and strives to 
ensure no child labor employed during our course of business. Any child labor found working at 
our properties would be immediately sent back to their hometown or native place, followed by our 
submission of necessary documents to local authorities and our discussion with the child custodian 
over the resumption of schooling.

No forced labor

In respect of the staff’s working hours, the Group strictly observes relevant national decrees or 
agreement provisions with brand customers, respects the staff with their working hours, and offers 
leaves to staff according to the law. As the operational need, the Group has a computer-based 
attendance system for human resources record, to effectively manage the staff’s working hours and 
leaves and ensure the physical and mental balance of the staff. The Group arranges overtime work of 
employees out of their own accord to prevent forced overtime work, with overtime work and payment 
in compliance with domestic rules and regulations in different region.

Employee-employer communication mechanism

The staff’s right to freely form associations for collective negotiation. Staff members are free to join in 
the trade union and other organizations of staff representatives, exercise their rights according to the 
Articles of Association, conduct sincere and constructive negotiations on a free and voluntary basis 
and in the principle of good faith, and try to reach collective contracts and agreements.
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Enhancing the communication mechanism for staff making suggestions and complaints

To encourage communication between the management and the staff, different complaint channels 
have been established in different regions in the company/factory, including “Company Mailbox”, 
“Trade Union Mailbox” and “Compliance Hotline” to understand and resolve the staff’s issues, listen 
to their voices, adopt improvement suggestions, and ultimately achieve a harmonious relationship 
between the staff and the employer.

Principles and channels for complaint and reporting

To respond to the staff’s suggestions and complaints, the Group establishes the following three 
complaint and reporting channels according to the “Working Principle”:

Direct supervisor  
of the employee

1 2 3

Human resources  
department

Complaint  
mailbox

Supply Chain Management

The Shenzhen Factory has over 68 suppliers.
Shenzhen Factory: The regular suppliers are classified by geographical region as follows: 
Mainland China: 51, Hong Kong: 15, Taiwan: 2
Overseas: Overseas suppliers are designated by customers.

With regard to the selection of suppliers, the Group first selects potential suppliers according to its 
screening process, followed by on-site audits by the internal auditor, competitiveness analyses by the 
purchasers, and finally the voting by a committee composed of the factory manufacturing unit and 
relevant departments in a fair, just and open manner, to formally grant the qualification status of the 
Group’s strategic supplier. The strict screening mechanism ensures that the shortlisted suppliers meet 
the Group’s performance demands, develop long-term strategic partnerships and help the Group to 
build a high-quality system for supply chain management.

In addition to the requirement that suppliers should strict comply with regulations and norms on labor 
safety and health, human rights and environmental protection, the Group conducts regular appraisals 
on its suppliers, with quarterly review over the suppliers’ performance in all aspects. The indicators 
of such regular appraisals cover five aspects, namely, quality, price (cost), delivery, service and 
environmental protection. Each aspect is set with qualitative and quantitative indicators. The appraisal 
results can help suppliers to continuously improve their operation performance.

According to the annual plan, a visit would be paid to key suppliers each year, for an on-site audit 
of quality management. Suppliers with defects would be required to present an improvement solution 
and subsequent prevention measures, with the improvement progress followed on a regular basis. A 
supplier screening and management mechanism is adopted to select excellent suppliers living up to 
the expectations of the Group.
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Product Responsibility

The products manufactured and supplied by the Group shall pass the standard quality inspection 
required by customers, and have reasonable packaging and detailed product label specifying product 
dimensions, materials, ingredients, usage instructions, etc. according to the customers’ requirements 
and the exporting countries’ laws and regulations. There were no products subject to recalls for safety 
and health reasons during the year.

Intellectual Property Rights

As a headwear manufacturer, the Group respects the intellectual property rights of the brand 
customers and strictly follows the brand protection policies of its customers. The intellectual property 
rights (such as trade marks) are only applied to products according to the scopes authorised by the 
brand customers, and would not be used for any other unauthorised purposes.

Quality Assurance Process and Recall Procedures

All products are examined and tested according to standardised inspection procedures and strict 
physical and chemical properties testing standards before they are stored in the warehouse and can 
be used for production.

In the mass production process, sampling tests will be conducted to prevent inappropriate materials 
from being used. Some finished headwear must go through the inspection machines or metal 
detection devices operated by designated employees to ensure there is no metal scrap or sharp 
objects remaining. The packaging before shipment for all qualified headwear is carried out under the 
supervision of trained staff with the adoption sealed records for shipment under CCTV surveillance 
systems, so as to prevent any placing of dangerous items into the packages during delivery.

In order to meet our customers’ requirements, our overall production processes (including production, 
packaging, labeling, etc.) are subject to the monitoring and auditing from customers. Immediate 
actions are taken and results are reverted to customers when customers raise any issues needed to 
adjustment and improvement.

Consumer Data Protection and Privacy Policies

The Group is committed to protecting the privacy of personal data. It ensures that its policies and 
practices in relation to the collection, use, retention, transfer and access of personal data comply 
with the requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The purpose for collecting and retaining customers’ records is to provide services, facilities and goods 
to customers, process payments and billings, research and develop products, conduct customer 
surveys and direct marketing and for other operating purposes. Appropriate security measures are 
taken to protect the personal data against loss and from unauthorised access, use, modification or 
disclosure.
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Anti-corruption

The Group strictly adheres to relevant local laws and regulations. All employees are prohibited from, 
directly or indirectly, offering, promising to offer, requesting or receiving any improper benefits of 
any sort, or taking any other actions without sincerity and integrity, in any illegal way, or in breach of 
fiduciary duty when conducting business with counterparties. Such behaviours to be prevented include 
criminal behaviour such as bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, and other acts such as 
making illegal political donations, making improper charity donations or improperly sponsoring charity, 
offering or receiving gifts, hospitality, or other improper benefits which are perceived as unacceptable 
in accordance with normal ethical standards, infringing trade confidential information, trademarks, 
patents, copyrights and other intellectual property rights, and engaging in unfair competition acts, etc. 
In 2018, there were no legal cases regarding corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering 
practices brought against the Group or its employees, and the Group’s Internal Audit Department did 
not discover or receive any report in relation to any immoral behaviours by the Group or its employees.

The Group discloses its business integrity policies on its internal website or other media channels. The 
objective is to ensure that the employees of the Group, suppliers, customers or personnel of other 
organisations relevant to the business clearly understand the Group’s philosophy and standards on 
business integrity. During the course of business engagement, the Group’s employees are required 
to explain to business counterparties the Group’s policies and regulations on business integrity, and 
should explicitly reject any direct or indirect provisions, undertakings, requests for or receipts of 
improper benefits in whatever manner or form.

In order to prevent employee corruption and respond to the employees’ opinions and complaints, the 
Group has established the following four appeals and reporting channels:

Anti-corruption and  
anti-bribery hotline

Human resources  
department

Complaint mailbox

Direct supervisor of  
the employee

Anyone with information about suspected illegal or dishonest acts by any personnel of the Group can 
report via the above channels.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

1. “Good MPF Employer Award 2017–18” granted by Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority

2. “Partner Employer Award” granted by The Hong Kong General Chamber of Small and Medium 
Business for the 6th consecutive year

3. “Consumer Caring Company” granted by GS1 Hong Kong

4. “Green Management Award — Service Provider” granted by the Green Council

5. “Social Capital Builder Awards” granted by the Labour and Welfare Bureau
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To the Shareholders of
Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 145, which comprise:

• the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018;

• the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued 
by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

• Provision for inventories

• Impairment of goodwill

• Income taxes
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Provision for inventories

Refer to note 4 (critical accounting estimates 
and judgements) and note 20 (inventories) to the 
consolidated financial statements for the related 
disclosures. As disclosed in note 2(I) to the 
consolidated financial statements, inventories 
are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value (“NRV”).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group held 
inventories of HK$208.7 million, net of provision 
for inventories of HK$44.8 million.

Management determines the lower of cost and 
NRV of inventories by considering the aging 
profile, inventory obsolescence and estimated 
selling price of individual inventory items. 
Significant judgement is required in determining 
the estimated selling price of individual series of 
products including historical experience of selling 
products of similar nature and expectation of 
future sales based on current market conditions.

We focused on this area due to significant 
judgement involved in determining the provision 
for inventories.

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s 
assessment on NRV and obsolescence of inventories 
included:

— Understood and tested the control procedures 
performed by management in estimating 
the NRV of the inventories and conducting 
periodic review on inventory obsolescence;

— Observed client’s inventory counts to identify 
where there is any damaged or obsolete 
inventories;

— Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of 
the ageing profile of individual inventory items 
by checking to the underlying procurement 
correspondence and invoices; and

— Tested, on a sample basis, the NRV of 
selected inventory items, by comparing the 
latest selling price against the carrying values 
of these individual finished goods.

Based on the procedures described, we found 
the judgement made by management in relation 
to the provision for inventories was supportable by 
available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of goodwill

Refer to note 4 (critical accounting estimates 
and judgement) and note 17 (goodwill) to the 
consolidated financial statements for related 
disclosure.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 
goodwill arising from the acquisition of H3 
Sportgear LLC (“H3”) and San Diego Hat 
Company (“SDHC”) of HK$22.5 million and 
HK$11.3 million, respectively.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken 
annually or more frequently if events or changes 
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. 
The carrying value of the cash-generating units 
(“CGU”) containing the goodwill is compared 
to the recoverable amount, which is the higher 
of value in use and the fair value less costs 
of disposal. Significant judgement is required 
in relation to the assumptions made in such 
discounted cash flow model including:

• Sales growth rate;

• Gross profit margin; and

• Discount rate.

We focused on this area due to significant 
judgement is required in the estimations of the 
recoverable amounts of goodwill.

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s 
assessment on the recoverable amounts of goodwill 
included:

— Understood and assessed the appropriateness 
of the valuation methodologies used by the 
management;

— Compared the current year actual results with 
prior year forecast to consider the accuracy 
of historical forecasts and understood the 
explanation for deviation of the actual results 
compared with prior year forecast.

In addition, we performed the following procedures 
over management’s key assumptions used in the 
discounted cash flow model:

— Discussed with management about sales 
growth rates and gross profit margin, 
and compared these assumptions against 
approved budgets;

— Benchmarked the discount rate against our 
research on the discount rates for comparable 
companies;

— Performed sensitivity analysis to assess the 
potential impact of reasonably changes to the 
key assumptions.

Based on the procedures described, we found the 
judgement made by management in relation to the 
recoverable amounts of goodwill was supportable 
by available evidence.
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Income taxes

Refer to note 4 (critical accounting estimates and 
judgement) and note 11 (income tax expenses) 
to the consolidated financial statements for 
related disclosure.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, income 
tax provision of the Group amounted to HK$3.4 
million.

The Group is subject to taxation in a few 
jurisdictions and, in many cases, the non-
taxable position and the ultimate tax treatment 
is uncertain until the subject matter is assessed 
by the relevant tax authority. Consequently, the 
management makes judgements over the tax 
liabilities which are subject to the future outcome 
of assessments by the relevant tax authorities.

We focused on this area due to the significant 
judgement by management in respect of the 
application of relevant law and regulations.

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s 
assessment on income tax provision included:

— Discussed with the management to understand 
their interpretation of the relevant tax rules 
and regulations and the basis of determining 
the tax provision;

— Evaluated the judgements made by the 
management with the involvement of our tax 
specialists based on our understanding of the 
relevant tax rules and regulations; and

— Examined the correspondences between the 
Group and the tax authorities and between 
the Group and its external tax advisers, where 
applicable.

Based on the procedures described, we found 
the judgement made by management in relation to 
income tax provision was supportable by available 
evidence.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
all of the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with 
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Chan Tak Wai, 
Daniel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 18 March 2019
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2018 2017
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 941,493 890,707

Cost of sales 8 (649,969) (602,913)  

Gross pro�t 291,524 287,794

Other income 6 11,987 10,302

Other gains — net 7 854 3,921

Selling and distribution costs 8 (105,740) (89,228)
Administration expenses 8 (128,014) (128,231)
Net (impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss on 

financial assets (1,126) 470  

Pro�t from operations 69,485 85,028

Finance income 9 1,527 1,516
Finance costs 9 (276) (966)  

Finance income – net 1,251 550  

Pro�t before income tax 70,736 85,578

Income tax expense 11 (3,390) (4,355)  

Pro�t for the year 67,346 81,223  

Pro�t attributable to:
Owners of the Company 62,513 77,228
Non-controlling interests 4,833 3,995  

67,346 81,223  

Earnings per share for the pro�t attributable to 
owners of the Company 12
Basic (HK cents per share) 15.42 19.06
Diluted (HK cents per share) 15.27 18.67  

The notes on pages 70 to 145 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Pro�t for the year 67,346 81,223

Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax

Items that may be subsequently reclassi�ed  
to pro�t or loss:
Change in the fair value of an available-for-sale  

financial asset — (239)
Exchange differences on translation of financial statements of 

foreign operations (9,550) 6,003  

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 57,796 86,987  

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 53,658 82,870
Non-controlling interests 4,138 4,117  

Total comprehensive income for the year 57,796 86,987  

The notes on pages 70 to 145 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2018 2017
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 376,838 270,808
Investment properties 15 41,061 42,139
Goodwill 17 33,798 33,798
Other intangible assets 18 11,980 13,219
Deferred income tax assets 19 2,189 1,616
Available-for-sale financial asset 23 — 5,985
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23 21,746 15,944
Other financial assets at amortised cost 21 81 425  

487,693 383,934  

Current assets
Inventories 20 208,656 176,825
Other current assets 22 29,174 10,533
Other financial assets at amortised cost 21 17,662 15,937
Trade receivables 21 215,401 152,942
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23 11,078 20,380
Tax recoverable 823 1,204
Short-term bank deposits 24 3,852 3,907
Cash and cash equivalents 24 97,254 182,843  

583,900 564,571  

Total assets 1,071,593 948,505  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 25 40,532 40,517
Other reserves 226,938 232,895
Retained earnings 437,856 395,326  

705,326 668,738
Non-controlling interests 9,168 5,030  

Total equity 714,494 673,768    
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2018 2017
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Other payables 27 2,572 1,977
Borrowings 29 609 —

Deferred income tax liabilities 19 3,892 3,959  

7,073 5,936  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 27 183,787 137,229
Amount due to a non-controlling interest 28 713 649
Borrowings 29 149,412 112,528
Current income tax liabilities 16,114 18,395  

350,026 268,801    

Total liabilities 357,099 274,737  

Total equity and liabilities 1,071,593 948,505  

Net current assets 233,874 295,770  

Total assets less current liabilities 721,567 679,704  

The financial statements on pages 63 to 145 were approved by the Board of Directors on 18 March 
2019 and were signed on its behalf.

Ngan Hei Keung Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP

Director Director

The notes on pages 70 to 145 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share  

capital

Share 

premium

Capital 

reserve

Share based 

compensation 

reserve

Other 

reserve

Exchange 

reserve

Retained 

earnings Total

Non- 

controlling 

interests

Total  

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 31 December 2017,  

as originally presented 40,517 166,836 25,878 9,471 7,803 22,907 395,326 668,738 5,030 673,768

Change in accounting policy 

(Note 2(a)(i))   —   —   —   — 239   — (239)   —   —   —          

Total equity as at 1 January 2018,  

as restated 40,517 166,836 25,878 9,471 8,042 22,907 395,087 668,738 5,030 673,768

Profit for the year — — — — — — 62,513 62,513 4,833 67,346

Other comprehensive loss:
— Exchange differences on 

translation of financial 

statements of foreign 

operations — — — — — (8,855) — (8,855) (695) (9,550)          

Total comprehensive (loss)/income  

for the year, net of tax — — — — — (8,855) 62,513 53,658 4,138 57,796          

2017 final dividend paid — — — — — — (12,160) (12,160) — (12,160)

2018 interim dividend paid — — — — — — (8,106) (8,106) — (8,106)

Share options scheme:
— Value of services provided — — — 3,050 — — — 3,050 — 3,050
— Share options exercised 15 180 — (49) — — — 146 — 146
— Share options lapsed — — — (522) — — 522 — — —          

Total contribution by and distribution 

to owners of the Company 15 180 — 2,479 — — (19,744) (17,070) — (17,070)          

Balance at 31 December 2018 40,532 167,016 25,878 11,950 8,042 14,052 437,856 705,326 9,168 714,494          
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Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share  

capital

Share 

premium

Capital 

reserve

Share based 

compensation 

reserve

Other 

reserve

Exchange 

reserve

Retained 

earnings Total

Non- 

controlling 

interests

Total  

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2017 40,501 166,655 25,878 5,882 8,042 17,026 341,121 605,105 202 605,307          

Profit for the year — — — — — — 77,228 77,228 3,995 81,223
Other comprehensive (loss)/income:

— Change in the fair value of 
available-for-sale financial 
asset — — — — (239) — — (239) — (239)

— Exchange differences on 
translation of financial 
statements of foreign 
operations — — — — — 5,881 — 5,881 122 6,003          

Total comprehensive (loss)/income  
for the year, net of tax — — — — (239) 5,881 77,228 82,870 4,117 86,987          

2016 final dividend paid — — — — — — (12,152) (12,152) — (12,152)
2017 interim dividend paid — — — — — — (8,103) (8,103) — (8,103)
Dividends paid to non-controlling 

interests — — — — — — — — (187) (187)
Share options scheme:

— Value of services provided — — — 3,618 — — — 3,618 — 3,618
— Share options exercised 16 181 — (29) — — — 168 — 168

Acquisition of non-controlling interests — — — — — — (2,768) (2,768) 898 (1,870)          

Total contribution by and distribution 
to owners of the Company 16 181 — 3,589 — — (23,023) (19,237) 711 (18,526)          

Balance at 31 December 2017 40,517 166,836 25,878 9,471 7,803 22,907 395,326 668,738 5,030 673,768          

The capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the share 
capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation for the purpose of the 
listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange in 2000 over the nominal value of the share 
capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor.

The notes on pages 70 to 145 are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2018 2017
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash �ows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 30 32,055 101,846
Income tax paid (6,344) (8,457)
Income tax refunded 381 410
Interest paid (3,944) (1,837)  

Net cash generated from operating activities 22,148 91,962  

Cash �ows from investing activities
Interest received 1,527 1,516
Proceeds from disposals of property,  

plant and equipment — 9
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (134,076) (115,879)
Purchase of an available-for-sale financial asset — (6,224)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss — (23,560)
Proceed from disposal of a financial asset  

at fair value through profit or loss 8,110 —
Short-term bank deposits 55 (714)  

Net cash used in investing activities (124,384) (144,852)  

Cash �ows from �nancing activities
Dividends paid (20,266) (20,255)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests — (187)
Repayment of bank borrowings (57,454) (40,248)
Proceeds from bank borrowings 94,947 94,155
Proceeds from exercise of share options 146 168
Acquisition of non-controlling interests — (1,870)  

Net cash generated from �nancing activities 17,373 31,763  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (84,863) (21,127)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 182,843 201,881
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (726) 2,089  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 24 97,254 182,843  

The notes on pages 70 to 145 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited liability company 
incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(“Stock Exchange”). The address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, 
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the 
subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

 (a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the 
“Group”) have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial 
asset (“AFS”), financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) and investment 
properties which are carried at fair values.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

  (i) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

A number of new or amended standards became applicable for current reporting 
period. Of these, the following are relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

• HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments, and

• HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The other standards did not have material impact on the Group’s accounting policies 
and did not require any adjustments.

The below explains the impact of adoption of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 
9”) and HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 did not have any material impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification 
and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial 
instruments, impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018 resulted in changes in accounting 
policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements as described below. In accordance with the transitional provisions in 
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 9 was generally adopted without restating comparative information. 
The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new impairment rules are 
therefore not reflected in the restated consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 
2017, but are recognised in the opening consolidated balance sheet on 1 January 
2018.

   Impact of adoption

   Classification and measurement of financial instruments

On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial application of HKFRS 9), the Group’s management 
has assessed which business models apply to the financial assets held by the Group 
and has classified its financial instruments into the appropriate HKFRS 9 categories.
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As at 
31 December 

2017,  
as originally 

presented

Reclassify from 
available-for-sale 

�nancial asset 
to �nancial asset 

at fair value 
through pro�t or 

loss (note (a))

As at 
1 January 

2018,  
as restated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Available-for-sale �nancial asset
—  Unlisted equity investment in  

  the United States of America 
(the “USA”) 5,985 (5,985) —   

Financial asset at fair value 
through pro�t or loss

—  Unlisted equity investment  
 in the USA — 5,985 5,985   

Other  
reserves

Retained 
earnings

HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2017, as originally 
presented 7,803 395,326

Unlisted equity investment in the USA
—  Reclassify from AFS to financial asset  

  at FVPL (note (a)) 239 (239)  

As at 1 January 2018, as restated 8,042 395,087  

Note:

(a) Reclassification of available-for-sale financial asset to financial asset at fair value through profit 
and loss — unlisted equity investment

The unlisted equity investment in the USA of the Group with fair value of HK$5,985,000 as at 
1 January 2018 was reclassified from AFS to financial asset at FVPL as they do not meet the 
HKFRS 9 criteria for classification at amortised cost and the Group does not elect to classify 
the unlisted equity investment financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(“FVOCI”). Related cumulative fair value loss of HK$239,000 was reclassified from other reserves 
to retained earnings on 1 January 2018. During the year ended 31 December 2018, fair value 
loss of HK$155,000 relating to the investment was recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss.
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There is no impact on the Group’s accounting for financial liabilities, as the new 
requirements only affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at 
FVPL and the Group does not have any such liabilities.

   Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to HKFRS 9’s new 
expected credit loss model:

— trade receivables

— other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group was required to revise its impairment methodology under HKFRS 9 for 
each of these classes of assets.

While other financial assets at amortised cost, short-term bank deposits and cash 
and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, 
the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

   1 Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit losses 
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected losses 
for all trade receivables. The Group measures the expected credit losses on a 
combination of both individual and collective basis. 

To measure the expected credit losses, the trade receivables relating to 
customers with known financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection of 
receivables are assessed individually for provision for impairment allowance. 
Expected credit losses are also estimated by grouping the remaining trade 
receivables based on shared credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed 
for likelihood of recovery, taking into account the nature of the customer and 
its ageing category, and applying expected credit loss rates to the respective 
gross carrying amounts of the receivables.

The expected credit loss rates are determined based on historical credit losses 
experienced up to past 3 years and are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information such as macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the 
customers to settle the receivables.

Management has closely monitored the credit qualities and the collectability 
of the trade receivables. The adoption of the simplified expected credit loss 
approach under HKFRS 9 has not resulted in any additional impairment loss for 
trade receivables as at 1 January 2018.
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   2 Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

For other financial assets carried at amortised cost, the expected credit loss 
is based on the 12-month expected credit loss. It is the portion of lifetime 
expected credit loss that results from default events on a financial instrument 
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. However, when there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance 
will be based on the lifetime expected credit loss. Management has closely 
monitored the credit qualities and the collectability of the other financial assets 
at amortised cost and considers that the expected credit loss is immaterial as 
at 1 January 2018.

  (ii) Impact of standards issued but not yet applied by the Group

   HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost all leases being 
recognised on the consolidated balance sheet by lessees, as the distinction between 
operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right 
to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The 
only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for Group’s operating leases. As at 
the reporting date, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of 
HK$16,350,000, see note 31. However, the Group has not yet determined to what 
extent these commitments will result in the recognition of an asset and a liability for 
future payments and how this will affect the Group’s profit and classification of cash 
flows.

Some of the commitments may be covered by the exception for short-term and low 
value leases and some commitments may relate to arrangements that will not qualify 
as leases under HKFRS 16.

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory adoption date of 1 January 
2019. The Group intends to apply the simplified transition approach and will not 
restate comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption. Right-of-use assets 
for property leases will be measured on transition as if the new rules had always been 
applied. All other right-of-use assets will be measured at the amount of the lease 
liability on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease expenses).

There are no other standards and interpretations that are not yet effective that would be 
expected to have a material impact on the entity’s consolidated financial statements.
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 (b) Principles of consolidation

  (i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls 
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date 
that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations 
by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between 
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown 
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
balance sheet respectively.

  (ii) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss 
of control as transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership 
interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling 
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any 
difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any 
consideration paid or received is recognised in equity attributable to owners of the 
Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because 
of a loss of control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying 
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as 
an associated company, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are 
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 
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This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in an associated company is reduced but significant influence 
is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

 (c) Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, 
regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

• fair values of the assets transferred
• liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business
• equity interests issued by the Group
• fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, 

and
• fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity 
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. The excess of the

• consideration transferred,
• amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
• acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those 
amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, 
the difference is recognised directly in consolidated statement of profit or loss as a bargain 
purchase.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts 
classified as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in 
fair value recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of 
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at 
the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised 
in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

 (d) Separate �nancial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct 
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the 
Company on the basis of dividend and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends 
from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the 
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment 
in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated 
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

 (e) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting 
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is 
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, 
has been identified as the executive directors that make strategic decisions.

 (f) Foreign currencies translation

  (i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

  (ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates 
are generally recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a 
net basis within other gains, net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation 
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair values are reported as part of the fair 
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value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and 
liabilities such as equities held at FVPL are recognised in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-
monetary asset such as equity classified as financial asset at FVOCI are recognised 
in other comprehensive income.

  (iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the 
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different 
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the 
closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(b) income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss are translated at 
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation 
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the 
transactions); and

(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net 
investment in foreign entities, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When 
a foreign operation is sold, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing 
rate. Current translation differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

  (iv) Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest 
in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that 
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency translation differences accumulated 
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are 
reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over 
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated 
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not 
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

 (g) Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land classified as finance lease and all other property, plant and equipment 
are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the financial period in 
which they are incurred.

Freehold land with indefinite useful life is stated at historical cost less impairment loss.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method 
to allocate cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 3.33% to 10%
Furniture and equipment 20% to 33%
Leasehold improvements 10% to 50%
Machinery 10%
Motor vehicles 12.5% to 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount and are recognised within “other gains — net” in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction or 
pending installation, and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost comprises direct 
costs of construction including borrowing costs attributable to the construction during the 
period of construction. No provision for depreciation is made on construction in progress 
until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use.
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 (h) Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising land and buildings, are held for long-term 
rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group. 
Land held under operating leases are accounted for as investment properties when the 
rest of the definition of an investment property is met. In such cases, the operating leases 
concerned are accounted for as if they were finance leases. Investment property is initially 
measured at cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs. 
After initial recognition, investment properties are carried at fair values, representing open 
market value determined at each reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is based 
on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or 
condition of the specific asset. If the information is not available, the Group uses alternative 
valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow 
projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss as part of a valuation gain or loss in “other gains — net”.

 (i) Intangible assets

  (i) Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is 
not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity 
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. 
The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating 
units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill 
arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill 
is monitored for internal management purposes, being the operating segments.

  (ii) Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised 
at fair values at the acquisition date. The contractual customer relations have a finite 
useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is 
calculated on straight-line basis over their estimated useful life (10 years).

  (iii) Trademarks and licensing rights

Separately acquired trademarks and licensing rights are shown at historical cost. 
Trademarks and licensing rights acquired in a business combination are recognised at 
fair values at the acquisition date. Trademarks and licensing rights have a finite useful 
life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated 
on a straight line basis over their estimated useful life (2–10 years).
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 (j) Impairment of non-�nancial assets

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation is tested annually for impairment, or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Assets that 
are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating 
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed 
for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

 (k) Financial assets and liabilities

  (i) Classi�cation

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets in the following 
measurement categories:

— those to be measured subsequently at FVPL, and

— those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial 
assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in the profit 
or loss or other comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments that are 
not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable 
election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for 
managing those assets changes.

  (ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, 
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets 
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership.
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  (iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the 
case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial asset carried 
at FVPL are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

   Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business 
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There 
are three measurement categories to classify the debt instruments:

   (1) Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash 
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at 
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance 
income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

   (2) Fair value through other comprehensive income

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the 
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount 
are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of 
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and 
losses which are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income 
using the effective interest rate method. Impairment expenses are presented as 
separate line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

   (3) Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured 
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at 
FVPL is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period 
in which it arises.
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   Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair values. Where the 
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity 
investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification 
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the 
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payments 
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial asset at FVPL are recognised in ‘other gains — 
net’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses 
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not 
reported separately from other changes in fair value.

  (iv) Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected 
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The 
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition 
of the receivables.

  (v) Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but has elected not to restate 
comparative information. As a result, the comparative information provided continues 
to be accounted for in accordance with the Group’s previous accounting policy.

Until 31 December 2017, the Group classifies its financial assets in loans and 
receivables and AFS. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial 
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets 
at initial recognition.

   Reclassification

Reclassifications were made at fair value as of the reclassification date. Fair value 
became the new cost or amortised cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair value 
gains or losses recorded before reclassification date were subsequently made.
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   Subsequent measurement

The measurement at initial recognition did not change on adoption of HKFRS 9, see 
description above. AFS is subsequently carried at fair values. Loans and receivables 
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Changes in the fair values of monetary and non-monetary securities classified as AFS 
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as AFS are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments recognised in equity are included in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

   Impairment

The Group assesses at each of the balance sheet date whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred 
only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss 
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. In the case of equity 
investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the 
fair value of the security below its cost is considered an indicator that the assets are 
impaired.

   Assets carried at amortised cost

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the 
previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss.
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   Assets classified as available-for-sale

If there is objective evidence of impairment for AFS, the cumulative loss — measured 
as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments 
that were recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss are not reversed 
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss in a subsequent period.

   Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not 
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of 
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or 
the counterparty.

 (l) Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the 
basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on 
the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after 
deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

 (m) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in 
the ordinary course of business. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 
30–120 days and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional 
unless they contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair 
value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual 
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less provision for impairment.

When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for 
trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against ‘net impairment losses on financial assets’ in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.
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 (n) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

 (o) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

 (p) Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in 
the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payable are classified as current 
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the 
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair values and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

 (q) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period 
of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of 
loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable 
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until 
the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or 
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity 
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated balance sheet when the obligation specified 
in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying 
amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and 
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time 
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying 
assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending 
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

 (r) Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes 
in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused 
tax losses.

  (i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted 
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where 
the Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

  (ii) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are 
not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income 
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end 
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income 
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is measured at fair 
value is determined assuming the property will be recovered entirely through sale.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts 
will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences 
between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where 
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate 
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where 
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In 
this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, respectively.

 (s) Employee bene�ts

  (i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. 
A provision, where appropriate, is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as 
a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the 
time of leave.

  (ii) Pension obligations

Group companies operate various defined contribution pension schemes. The 
schemes are generally funded through payments to insurance companies or trustee-
administered funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The Group pays 
contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a 
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement 
benefits scheme (the “Pension Scheme”) set up pursuant to the Mandatory Provident 
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are 
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance 
with the rules of the Pension Scheme. The assets of the Pension Scheme are held 
separately from those of the Group in an independently administrated fund. The 
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed to 
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the Pension Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which 
are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves employment prior to vesting 
fully in the contributions, in accordance with the rules of the Pension Scheme. The 
Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. 
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or 
a reduction in the future payments is available.

In addition, pursuant to the government regulations in the People’s Republic of China 
(the “PRC”), the Group is required to contribute an amount to certain retirement 
benefit schemes based on approximately 7% to 20% of the wages for the year of 
those employees in the PRC. The local municipal government undertakes to assume 
the retirement benefits obligations of those employees of the Group. Contributions 
to these retirement benefits schemes are charged to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss as incurred.

  (iii) Pro�t-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based 
on a formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s 
shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where 
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive 
obligation.

 (t) Share-based payments

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plans, under which the 
entity receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of 
the Group. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of 
the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined 
by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

• including any market performance conditions (for example, an entity’s share price);

• excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions 
(for example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the 
entity over a specified time period); and

• including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for 
employees to save or hold shares for a specified period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period which is the period over which all 
of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
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At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options 
that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing performance and service conditions. 
It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received 
net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital and share 
premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of 
subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value 
of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is 
recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, 
with a corresponding credit to equity.

 (u) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be 
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. 
A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item 
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required 
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision 
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

 (v) Revenue recognition

  (i) Sales of goods

The Group principally engaged in the manufacturing, distribution and retailing 
of headwear products. Sales are recognised when control of the products has 
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customers, the customer 
has accepted the products and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the 
customer’s acceptance of the products.
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A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time 
that the consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is required 
before the payment is due.

A contract liability is recognised when a customer pays consideration, or is 
contractually required to pay consideration and the amount is already due, before the 
Group recognises the related revenue. The Group recognised its contract liabilities 
under other payables and accruals in the consolidated balance sheet.

  (ii) Rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

  (iii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

 (w) Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained 
by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases 
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

 (x) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the 
Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are 
approved by the Company’s shareholders.

 (y) Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised in “other income” in the consolidated statements 
of profit or loss at their fair values where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 (a) Categories of �nancial instruments

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost/loans and 

receivables:
— Trade receivables 215,401 152,942
— Other financial assets at amortised costs 17,743 16,362
— Short-term bank deposits 3,852 3,907
— Cash and cash equivalents 97,254 182,843  

334,250 356,054

Available-for-sale financial asset — 5,985
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 32,824 36,324  

367,074 398,363  

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

— Trade and other payables 171,571 121,123
— Amount due to a non-controlling interest 713 649
— Borrowings 150,021 112,528  

322,305 234,300  

 (b) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign 
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management objectives focus on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance.

In light of the simplicity of the structure, the risk management of the Group is carried 
out by the Board of Directors directly. The Board discusses both formally and informally 
principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such 
as foreign currency exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and use of 
financial instruments.
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  (i) Market risk

   (a) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through sales and 
purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency 
of the operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are 
primarily United States dollars (“US$”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Great British Pound 
(“GBP”) and Bangladesh Taka (“BDT”), and there are no significant assets 
and liabilities denominated in other currencies. The Group is subject to foreign 
exchange rate risk arising from future commercial transactions and recognised 
assets and liabilities which are denominated in a currency other than HK$, 
US$, RMB or GBP, which are the functional currencies of the major operating 
companies within the Group. The Group currently does not hedge its foreign 
currency exposure.

    For the companies with HK$ as their functional currency

The exchange rate of RMB to HK$ is subject to the rules and regulations of 
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. The Group 
manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the 
foreign currency rates.

As HK$ is pegged to US$, management believes that the exchange rate risk for 
translations between HK$ and US$ do not have material impact to the Group.

At 31 December 2018, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the 
HK$ with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have 
been approximately HK$509,000 (2017: HK$1,266,000) lower/higher, mainly as 
a result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of RMB denominated 
current account with group companies.

As at 31 December 2018, if GBP had weakened/strengthened by 5% against 
HK$ with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have 
been approximately HK$404,000 (2017: HK$781,000) lower/higher, mainly as a 
result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of GBP denominated 
current amount with group companies.

    For the companies with US$ as their functional currency

At 31 December 2018, if BDT had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the 
US$ with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have 
been approximately HK$1,050,000 (2017: HK$831,000) higher/lower, mainly as 
a result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of BDT denominated 
accrued charges and other payables.
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    For the companies with GBP as their functional currency

At 31 December 2018, if US$ had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the 
GBP with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would 
have been approximately HK$249,000 (2017: HK$248,000) higher/lower, mainly 
as a result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of US$ denominated 
current account with group companies.

   (b) Cash �ow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk primarily arises from bank deposits and bank 
borrowings. The Group has not used any derivative contracts to hedge its 
exposure to interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2018, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 50 basis 
points (2017: 50 basis points) in bank deposits and bank borrowings interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant, would decrease/increase (2017: 
increase/decrease) the Group’s post-tax profit for the year by approximately 
HK$217,000 (2017: HK$310,000). The 50 basis points increase/decrease 
represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in 
interest rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date.

   (c) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in listed 
securities in Hong Kong classified as financial assets at FVPL. If the market bid 
prices of the investments had been 10% higher/lower, with all other variables 
held constants, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year would increase/decrease 
by approximately HK$1,108,000 (2017: HK$1,227,000). A 10% change is used 
when reporting the price risk internally to the management.

Management constantly reviews the portfolio of investments and maintains the 
Group’s exposures to price risk within an acceptable level.

  (ii) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables, other financial 
assets at amortised cost, financial assets at FVPL, short-term bank deposits and cash 
and cash equivalents. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures 
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The carrying amount of these balances in the consolidated balance sheet represents 
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Annual Report 2018 95

For the year ended 31 December 2018

   (a) Risk management

Majority of the Group’s short-term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents 
are placed in those banks and financial institutions with a sound credit rating. 
Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these banks 
and financial institutions as they have no default history in the past.

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 120 days from the date of billing 
depending on the trading relationship. Debtors of the Group may be affected by 
the unfavorable economic conditions and the lower liquidity situation, which could 
in turn impact their ability to repay the amounts owed. Deteriorating operating 
conditions for debtors may also have an impact on management’s cash flow 
forecasts and assessment of the impairment of receivables. To the extent that 
information is available, management has properly reflected revised estimate of 
expected future cash flows in their impairment assessments.

The credit quality of the customers is assessed based on its financial position, 
past experience and other factors.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has certain concentration of credit risk as 
61% (2017: 52%) and 75% (2017: 71%) of the total trade receivables was due 
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.

   (b) Impairment of financial assets

Trade receivables for sales of goods of the Group are subject to the expected 
credit loss model. While other financial assets at amortised cost, short-term bank 
deposits and cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment 
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

    Trade and bills receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected 
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade 
receivables. The Group measures the expected credit losses on a combination 
of both individual and collective basis.

To measure the expected credit losses, the trade receivables relating to customers 
with known financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection of receivables 
are assessed individually for provision for impairment allowance. Expected 
credit losses are estimated by grouping the remaining trade receivables based 
on shared credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for likelihood of 
recovery, taking into account the nature of the customer and its ageing category, 
and applying expected credit loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts 
of the receivables.
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The expected credit loss rates are determined based on historical credit losses 
experienced up to past 3 years and are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information such as macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the 
customers to settle the receivables.

As at 31 December 2018, the balance of loss allowance in respect of these 
collectively assessed receivables was HK$2,545,000 based on expected credit 
loss rates up to 4.1% applied on different groupings.

Impairment losses on receivables are presented as ‘net impairment loss on 
financial assets’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. When a receivable 
is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost, short-term bank deposits and cash and 
cash equivalents.

There is no significant loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost, 
short-term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 
2018 (2017: same).

    Previous accounting policy for impairment of trade receivables

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 120 days from the date of billing 
depending on the trading relationship. Debtors of the Group may be affected by 
the unfavorable economic conditions and the lower liquidity situation, which could 
in turn impact their ability to repay the amounts owed. Deteriorating operating 
conditions for debtors may also have an impact on management’s cash flow 
forecasts and assessment of the impairment of receivables. To the extent that 
information is available, management has properly reflected revised estimate of 
expected future cash flows in their impairment assessments. The credit quality 
of the customers is assessed based on its financial position, past experience 
and other factors.
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The impact of transition to HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 (date of adoption of 
HKFRS 9) as a result of applying the expected credit risk model was immaterial.

  (iii) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements 
and its compliance with lending covenants by reviewing each operating entity’s 
cash flow forecast, to ensure that the Group maintains sufficient reserves of cash 
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its 
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s total available banking facilities, amounted 
to approximately HK$381,271,000 (2017: HK$364,371,000), of which approximately 
HK$161,888,000 (2017: HK$131,421,000) has been utilised.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities based on 
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual expiry date. The 
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances 
due within 12 months equal their carrying values, as the impact of discounting is not 
significant.

31 December 2018

Within 
one year

In the 
second to 
�fth years 

inclusive Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade and other payables 169,511 2,060 171,571
Amount due to a non-controlling interest 713 — 713
Borrowings 149,412 609 150,021   

Total 319,636 2,669 322,305   
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31 December 2017

Within 
one year

In the 
second to 
�fth years 

inclusive Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade and other payables 119,603 1,520 121,123
Amounts due to non-controlling interests 649 — 649
Bank borrowings 112,528 — 112,528   

Total 232,780 1,520 234,300   

Specifically, for term loans which contain a repayment on demand clause which can 
be exercised at the bank’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based 
on the earliest period in which the entity can be required to pay, that is if the lenders 
were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with immediate effect. The 
maturity analysis for other bank borrowings is prepared based on the scheduled 
repayment dates.

The table that follows summaries the maturity analysis of term loans with a repayment 
on demand clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan 
agreements. The amounts include interest payments computed using contractual 
rates. As a result, these amounts were greater than the amounts disclosed in the “on 
demand” time band in the maturity analysis above. Taking into account the Group’s 
financial position, the directors do not consider that it is probable that the bank will 
exercise its discretion to immediate repayment. The directors believe that such term 
loans will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in 
the loan agreements.

Due on 
demand or 

within  
1 year

More than 
1 year but 
less than 

2 years

More than 
2 years 

but less 
than  

5 years
More than 

5 years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2018
Principal 41,379 41,379 66,471 — 149,229
Interest 1,040 2,081 6,030 — 9,151     

42,419 43,460 72,501 — 158,380     

31 December 2017
Principal 40,409 29,711 42,408 — 112,528
Interest 1,096 1,640 3,906 — 6,642     

41,505 31,351 46,314 — 119,170     
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 (c) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders 
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with 
the level of risk, and to support the Group’s sustainable growth and to provide capital for 
the purpose of potential mergers and acquisitions.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a 
balance between the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of 
borrowings, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic 
conditions. The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio and the Group 
will have sufficient financial resources and banking facilities to meet its commitments and 
working capital requirements. The Group’s gearing ratio (being the Group‘s total borrowings 
over total equity) is as follows.

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowings 150,021 112,528
Equity 714,494 673,768  

Gearing ratio (%) 21.0 16.7  

 (d) Fair value estimation

  (i) Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried at fair values as 
at 31 December 2018 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure 
fair values. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy 
as follows:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(level 1).

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived 
from prices) (level 2).

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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See note 15 for disclosures of investment properties that are measured at fair values. 
The following tables present the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair 
values:

2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss
— Unlisted convertible bonds in Hong 

Kong — — 15,916 15,916
— Unlisted equity investment in the USA — — 5,830 5,830
— Listed securities in Hong Kong 11,078 — — 11,078    

Total financial assets 11,078 — 21,746 32,824    

2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Assets

Available-for-sale financial asset
— Unlisted equity investment in the USA — — 5,985 5,985
— Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss
— Unlisted fund investment in  

Hong Kong — — 8,110 8,110
— Unlisted convertible bonds in Hong 

Kong — — 15,944 15,944
— Listed securities in Hong Kong 12,270 — — 12,270    

Total financial assets 12,270 — 30,039 42,309    

There were no transfers of financial assets between the fair value hierarchy 
classifications during the year (2017: same).

There were no other changes in valuation techniques during the year (2017: same).
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   Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded 
derivatives, and trading and equity securities) is based on quoted market prices at 
the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by 
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

   Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for 
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques 
which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on 
entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument 
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

   Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the 
instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity investment in the 
USA and unlisted convertible bonds in Hong Kong.

  (ii) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

Specific valuation techniques used to value level 3 financial instruments include 
techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis and net asset value model. There 
are no changes in valuation techniques during the year.

The Group’s finance department reviews the valuations of financial assets required 
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. As part of the valuation 
process, this team reports directly to the chief financial officer (CFO) and external 
valuers will be engaged, if necessary.

In applying the discounted cash flow technique, management has taken into account 
the estimated amount that the Group would receive to sell the instrument at the 
balance sheet date, taking into account current interest rates and the current credit 
worthiness of the counterparties. Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, 
estimated future cash flows are based on management’s best estimates and the 
discount rate is a market related rate for a similar instrument at the balance sheet date.
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  (iii) Fair value measurements using signi�cant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 financial instruments for the year 
ended 31 December 2018:

Financial asset at fair value through  

pro�t or loss

Unlisted  

equity  

investment in  

the USA

Unlisted  

fund 

investment in 

Hong Kong

Unlisted 

convertible 

bonds in  

Hong Kong Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2017,  

as originally presented — 8,110 15,944 24,054

Change in accounting policy  

(Note 2(a)(i))

— Reclassify from AFS 5,985 — — 5,985    

As at 1 January 2018,  

as restated 5,985 8,110 15,944 30,039

Fair value losses on revaluation 

recognised in the 

consolidated statement of 

profit or loss (155) — (28) (183)

Disposal — (8,110) — (8,110)    

As at 31 December 2018 5,830 — 15,916 21,746    

Changes in fair values for the 

year included in consolidated 

statement of profit or loss 

attributable to balances held 

at the balance sheet date (155) — (28) (183)    
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The following table presents the changes in level 3 financial instruments for the 
year ended 31 December 2017:

Available-for-
sale financial 

asset

Financial  
asset at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Financial  
asset at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Unlisted  
equity  

investment in  
the USA

Unlisted  
fund 

investment in 
Hong Kong

Unlisted 
convertible 

bonds in  
Hong Kong Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2017 — — — —
Additions 6,224 8,000 15,560 29,784
Fair value gains on revaluation 

recognised in consolidated statement 
of profit or loss — 110 384 494

Fair value losses on revaluation 
recognised in other comprehensive 
income (239) — — (239)    

At 31 December 2017 5,985 8,110 15,944 30,039    

Changes in fair value for the year 
included in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss attributable to balances 
at the end of the reporting period — 110 384 494    

The unlisted equity investment classified as financial asset at FVPL represents an 
investment in a 18% equity interest of an unlisted company incorporated in the USA. 
It is principally engaged in the acquisition and management of a retail plaza and 
related properties for re-development or rental appreciation.

As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of the unlisted equity investment is determined 
based on the net assets value of the company after adjusting the carrying amounts 
of the underlying investment properties to their fair values, which are reference to 
recent transaction prices with certain adjustments to reflect the differences between 
the properties and the recent transactions (2017: same).
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The unlisted convertible bonds classified as financial asset at FVPL represent 
investment in an unlisted callable convertible bond issued by an unlisted company in 
Hong Kong, which is not traded in an active market. The valuation of the investment 
is based on the valuation carried out by independent professionally qualified valuer, 
Stirling Appraisals Limited, who holds a recognised relevant professional qualification 
and has relevant experience. The fair value gains are included in “other gains — net” 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The key unobservable assumption used in the valuation of the unlisted convertible 
bonds as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 is:

Valuation technique
Unobservable 
input

As at 
31 December 

2018

As at 
31 December 

2017

Binomial option pricing model Discount rate 6.23% 4.98%

As at 31 December 2018, the pre-tax discount rate used to compute the fair value 
is 6.23% (2017: 4.98%). If the discount rate shifted upward by 1%, the impact on 
profit or loss would be approximately HK$186,000 (2017: HK$229,000). The higher 
the pre-tax discount rate, the lower the fair value.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

 (a) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance 
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(j). The recoverable amounts of CGUs have 
been determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the use 
of estimates.

Estimating the value in use requires an estimate of the expected future cash flows from 
the cash-generating unit and also a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 
value of those cash flows. Judgement is required to determine key assumptions adopted 
in the cash flow projections and changes to key assumptions could affect these cash flow 
projections and therefore the results of the impairment review.

 (b) Provision for inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories 
is written down to net realisable value when there is an objective evidence that the cost of 
inventories may not be recoverable. The cost of inventories may not be recoverable if those 
inventories are aged and damaged, if they have become wholly or partially obsolete, or if 
their selling prices have declined. The cost of inventories may also not be recoverable if 
the estimated costs to be incurred to make the sales have increased.

The amount written off to the consolidated statement of profit or loss is the difference 
between the carrying value and net realisable value of the inventories. In determining 
whether the inventories can be recoverable, significant judgement is required. In making 
this judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent by all 
means to which the amount will be recovered.
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 (c) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgement is 
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be required. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts 
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors have been identified as the chief operating decision maker. The executive 
directors have determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by them that 
are used to make strategic decisions.

The executive directors consider the business from a business perspective whereby management 
assesses the performance of business operations by segment as follows:

(i) Manufacturing Business: The Group manufactures headwear products for sale to its Trading 
Business and Retail Business as well as to external customers. The principal manufacturing 
facilities are located in Bangladesh and Shenzhen, the PRC. Customers are mainly located 
in the USA and Europe.

(ii) Trading Business: The trading and distribution of headwear and other products of the 
Group is operating through Drew Pearson International (Europe) Ltd., (“DPI Europe”) which 
focuses on the Europe market, and H3 Sportgear LLC (“H3”) and San Diego Hat Company 
(“SDHC”), which focus on the United States market.

(iii) Retail Business: The Group operates headwear stores in Hong Kong and the Sanrio stores 
in the PRC.

Segment assets exclude investment properties, deferred income tax assets, tax recoverable, AFS, 
financial assets at FVPL, short-term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents.

Segment liabilities exclude current and deferred income tax liabilities, borrowings and corporate 
liabilities which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating segment.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Annual Report 2018 107

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Manufacturing Trading Retail Total

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 672,790 634,563 213,143 184,543 55,560 71,601 941,493 890,707
Inter-segment revenue 56,144 67,969 — — — — 56,144 67,969        

Reportable segment revenue 728,934 702,532 213,143 184,543 55,560 71,601 997,637 958,676        

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 108,673 100,590 (19,218) 2,950 (13,677) (8,447) 75,778 95,093
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

— fair value (loss)/gain (1,375) 430
— interest income 830 —

Fair value gains on investment properties 290 1,018
Share-based payment expense (3,050) (3,618)
Unallocated corporate income 10,155 9,277
Unallocated corporate expenses (13,143) (17,172)  

Profit from operations 69,485 85,028
Finance income 1,527 1,516
Finance costs (276) (966)
Income tax expense (3,390) (4,355)  

Profit for the year 67,346 81,223  

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17,521 17,753 5,433 4,238 1,263 1,633 24,217 23,624
Amortisation of other intangible assets — — 7,464 5,737 — — 7,464 5,737  

Reportable segment assets 501,729 371,765 371,842 268,946 20,019 33,776 893,590 674,487
Investment properties 41,061 42,139
Deferred income tax assets 2,189 1,616
Available-for-sale financial asset — 5,985
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 32,824 36,324
Tax recoverable 823 1,204
Short-term bank deposits 3,852 3,907
Cash and cash equivalents 97,254 182,843  

Total assets 1,071,593 948,505  

Reportable segment liabilities 144,724 102,601 18,519 10,059 21,255 24,540 184,498 137,200
Deferred income tax liabilities 3,892 3,959
Current income tax liabilities 16,114 18,395
Borrowings 150,021 112,528
Other corporate liabilities 2,574 2,655  

Total liabilities 357,099 274,737  

Capital expenditure incurred during the year 63,412 35,288 80,177 85,554 313 801 143,902 121,643        
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 (i) Revenue from external customers

The Group’s revenue from external customers is divided into the following geographical 
areas based on the location at which the goods were delivered:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

USA 685,307 619,676
Europe 101,762 107,265
PRC 63,262 61,328
Hong Kong 20,219 30,925
Others 70,943 71,513  

Total 941,493 890,707  

During the year ended 31 December 2018, revenue derived from the Group’s largest 
customer (who is affiliated company of a shareholder) and the second-largest customer 
amounted to HK$447,405,000 or 47.5% and HK$89,029,000 or 9.5% of the Group’s revenue 
respectively (2017: HK$385,072,000 or 43.2%; HK$97,291,000 or 10.9%). These revenues 
were attributable to the Manufacturing Business.

 (ii) Non-current assets

The geographical location of the non-current assets is based on the location of operations 
and physical location of the asset:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

USA 260,007 191,154
Bangladesh 143,146 96,675
PRC 37,592 47,502
Europe 7,603 7,841
Hong Kong 3,430 3,998  

451,778 347,170
Other intangible assets 11,980 13,219
Deferred income tax assets 2,189 1,616
Available-for-sale financial asset — 5,985
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21,746 15,944  

487,693 383,934  
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6. OTHER INCOME

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental income 9,245 8,839
Sundry income 2,742 1,463  

11,987 10,302  

7. OTHER GAINS — NET

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
— fair value (loss)/gain (1,375) 430
—  interest income of unlisted convertible bonds in  

Hong Kong 830 —

Net foreign exchange gain 1,138 2,492
Fair value gain on investment properties (note 15) 290 1,018
Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment (29) (19)  

854 3,921  
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8. EXPENSES BY NATURE

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Employee benefit expense (note 10) 250,216 250,066
Cost of inventories (note 20) 394,817 362,872
Auditors’ remuneration
— Audit services 3,019 3,433
— Non-audit services 117 117
Licence fees 2,176 3,381
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 14) 24,217 23,624
Amortisation of other intangible assets (note 18) 7,464 5,737
Operating lease charges in respect of office premises, 

shops, factories and warehouses 23,727 25,629
Net impairment losses on financial assets
— N et impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) on 

trade receivables (note 21) 1,126 (470)
Net provision for inventories (note 20) 7,781 7,598
Claims expense 2,542 3,392
Delivery expenses 34,367 29,220
Others 133,280 105,303  

Total 884,849 819,902  
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9. FINANCE INCOME — NET

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank loans, overdrafts and other borrowings (3,699) (1,681)
Interest on amount due to a non-controlling interest (25) (25)
Interest accretion on licence fee payables (220) (131)  

(3,944) (1,837)
Amount capitalised (note) 3,668 871  

Interest costs (276) (966)
Interest income 1,527 1,516  

Finance income — net 1,251 550  

Note:

During 31 December 2018, interest expenses on bank borrowings were capitalised at the weighted average rate 
of its general borrowings of approximately 2.62% (2017: 2.69%).

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Employee remuneration (including directors’ emoluments 
and retirement benefit costs)
— Salaries and allowances 237,492 237,312
— Contribution to retirement scheme 9,674 9,136
— Share-based payments expenses 3,050 3,618  

250,216 250,066  
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 (a) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals included three (2017: three) directors whose emoluments 
are reflected in the analysis shown in note 36. The details of the emoluments of the 
remaining two (2017: two) highest paid individuals are as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances 
and benefits in kind 4,754 4,448

Discretionary bonuses 435 639
Contributions to retirement scheme 18 18  

5,207 5,105  

The emoluments of these two (2017: two) employees are within the following bands:

2018 2017

HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2 2  
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current year
— Hong Kong profits tax 700 2,110
— Overseas tax 7,828 9,072  

8,528 11,182

Over-provision in prior years
— Hong Kong profits tax (2,240) (2,030)
— Overseas tax (2,406) (5,330)  

(4,646) (7,360)

Deferred income tax (note 19) (492) 533  

3,390 4,355  

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on the estimated 
assessable profits for the year.

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the 
year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Unimas Sportswear Ltd. (“Unimas”), a subsidiary of the Group, operates in Bangladesh. Pursuant 
to the sixth schedule of the Income Tax Ordinance, Unimas is entitled to a reduction of the 
corporate income tax from 35% to 17.5% for income from its export business for the year ended 
31 December 2018 (2017: same). Further to the Statutory Regulatory Order 255 (SRO), Unimas, 
as a readymade garments manufacturer, is entitled to a further reduction of the income tax 
rate from 17.5% to 12% for the year ended 31 December 2017 and therefore an over-provision 
in respect of prior year of HK$657,000 (2017: HK$1,638,000) was recognised during the year 
ended 31 December 2018.
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The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 
using the tax rate of the home country of the Company as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax 70,736 85,578  

Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) 11,671 14,120
Effect of different taxation rates in other countries (11,759) (8,843)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 5,143 6,075
Income not subject to tax (3,444) (1,932)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax assets was 

recognised 6,425 2,201
Over-provision in prior years (4,646) (7,360)
Deferred tax remeasurement due to US federal tax rate 

reduction — 94  

Income tax expense 3,390 4,355  

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

 (a) Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 
(HK$’000) 62,513 77,228  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 405,297,942 405,109,229  

Basic earnings per share (HK cents) 15.42 19.06  
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 (b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all outstanding share options. A 
calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at 
fair value (determined as the average annual market share price of the Company’s shares) 
based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding share 
options. The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares 
that would have been issued assuming exercise of the share options.

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 
(HK$’000) 62,513 77,228  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 405,297,942 405,109,229
Adjustment for share options 4,090,282 8,520,085  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
diluted earnings per share 409,388,224 413,629,314  

Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) 15.27 18.67  

13. DIVIDENDS

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 of 3 HK cents per share, 
amounting to a total dividend of HK$12,160,000, is to be proposed at the upcoming annual 
general meeting. These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable. The amount 
of proposed final dividend for 2018 was based on 405,323,284 (2017: 405,173,284) shares in 
issue as at 31 December 2018.

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim dividend of 2 HK cents (2017: 2 HK cents)  
per share 8,106 8,103

Proposed final dividend of 3 HK cents (2017: 3 HK cents) 
per share 12,160 12,152  

20,266 20,255  
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Construction 
in progress

Land and 
buildings

Furniture and 
equipment

Leasehold 
improvements Machinery

Motor 
vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2017
Cost — 118,800 65,502 47,074 233,792 12,408 477,576
Accumulated depreciation 

and impairment — (11,536) (48,958) (39,888) (191,650) (10,508) (302,540)       

Net book amount — 107,264 16,544 7,186 42,142 1,900 175,036       

Year ended 31 December 
2017

Opening net book amount — 107,264 16,544 7,186 42,142 1,900 175,036
Additions 34,555 66,392 3,931 637 11,149 86 116,750
Disposals — — (27) — — (1) (28)
Depreciation — (5,555) (5,503) (2,409) (9,305) (852) (23,624)
Exchange differences — 193 115 105 2,249 12 2,674       

Closing net book amount 34,555 168,294 15,060 5,519 46,235 1,145 270,808       

At 31 December 2017
Cost 34,555 185,386 61,655 39,888 239,858 12,528 573,870
Accumulated depreciation 

and impairment — (17,092) (46,595) (34,369) (193,623) (11,383) (303,062)       

Net book amount 34,555 168,294 15,060 5,519 46,235 1,145 270,808       

Year ended 31 December 
2018

Opening net book amount 34,555 168,294 15,060 5,519 46,235 1,145 270,808
Additions 109,306 1,519 9,423 295 16,082 1,119 137,744
Transfers (84,723) 84,723 — — — — —
Disposals — — (29) — — — (29)
Depreciation — (6,118) (5,871) (1,995) (9,566) (667) (24,217)
Exchange differences (151) (2,868) (493) (44) (3,896) (16) (7,468)       

Closing net book amount 58,987 245,550 18,090 3,775 48,855 1,581 376,838       

At 31 December 2018
Cost 58,987 267,677 69,225 39,611 248,604 11,746 695,850
Accumulated depreciation 

and impairment — (22,127) (51,135) (35,836) (199,749) (10,165) (319,012)       

Net book amount 58,987 245,550 18,090 3,775 48,855 1,581 376,838       

Depreciation expense of HK$16,681,000 (2017: HK$16,325,000) has been charged in cost of 
sales, HK$772,000 (2017: HK$1,594,000) in selling and distribution costs and HK$6,764,000 
(2017: HK$5,705,000) in administration expenses.

The Group’s land is freehold and located outside Hong Kong.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

At fair value
Opening balance at 1 January 42,139 39,775
Net gains from fair value adjustment 290 1,018
Exchange differences (1,368) 1,346  

Closing balance at 31 December 41,061 42,139  

The following amounts have been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental income 3,872 3,612
Direct operating expenses arising from investment property 

that generated rental income (1,671) (1,348)  

The period of leases whereby the Group leases out its investment properties under operating 
leases ranged from 1 to 5 years.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the future aggregate minimum rentals receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

No later than 1 year 3,748 3,600
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 6,942 11,002  

10,690 14,602  
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The valuation of the investment properties is based on the valuation carried out by independent 
professionally qualified valuer, Stirling Appraisals Limited, who holds a recognised relevant 
professional qualification and has recent experience in the locations and segments of the 
investment properties valued. The revaluation gains are included in “other gains — net” in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The following table analyses the investment properties 
carried at fair value, by level of inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such 
inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (level 1).

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset, 
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

• Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 
inputs) (level 3).

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels 
as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no 
transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year (2017: same).

Fair value measurements  
at 31 December 2018 using

Description

Quoted prices in 
active markets 

for identical 
assets  

(Level 1)

Signi�cant  
other  

observable 
inputs  

(Level 2)

Signi�cant 
unobservable 

inputs  
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties: 
Production facilities in the PRC — — 18,090 18,090
Residential building units in the PRC — 4,921 — 4,921
Residential building units in the USA — 18,050 — 18,050    

— 22,971 18,090 41,061    
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Fair value measurements  
at 31 December 2017 using

Description

Quoted prices in 
active markets 

for identical 
assets  

(Level 1)

Significant  
other 

observable 
inputs  

(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs  
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties: 
Production facilities in the PRC — — 19,167 19,167
Residential building units in the PRC — 5,000 — 5,000
Residential building units in the USA — 17,972 — 17,972    

— 22,972 19,167 42,139    

The Group’s finance department reviews the valuations performed by the independent valuers 
for financial reporting purposes. This team reports directly to the chief financial officer and group 
senior management for discussions in relation to the valuation processes and the reasonableness 
of the valuation results.

The valuation of the residential units in the USA and in the PRC was determined using the sale 
comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted for 
differences in key attributes such as rental value, time, location, size and other relevant factors. 
The most significant input into this valuation approach is the rental value.

The valuation of the production facilities in the PRC was determined using the income approach. 
The potential rent of the property (with reference to current market rent) of which the Group is 
entitled to receive for the residual term of the lease of property is capitalised. The most significant 
impact into this valuation approach is the rental value.
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These significant unobservable inputs include:

Description

Fair values 
at 31-Dec-18 

(HK$’000)
Valuation 
technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Range of 
unobservable 
inputs (probability-
weighted average)

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs 
to fair value

Production facilities  
in the PRC

18,090 Income 
approach

Term rent RMB15–RMB19  
per month per 
square metre

The higher the rent, 
the higher the fair 
value

Market rent RMB17 per month 
per square metre

The higher the rent, 
the higher the fair 
value

Term yield 6% The higher the yield, 
the lower the fair 
value

Market yield 8% The higher the yield, 
the lower the fair 
value

Description

Fair values 
at 31-Dec-17 

(HK$’000)
Valuation 
technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Range of 
unobservable 
inputs (probability-
weighted average)

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs 
to fair value

Production facilities  
in the PRC

19,167 Income 
approach

Term rent RMB15–RMB19 per 
month per square 
metre

The higher the rent, 
the higher the fair 
value

Market rent RMB18 per month 
per square metre

The higher the rent, 
the higher the fair 
value

Term yield 6% The higher the yield, 
the lower the fair 
value

Market yield 8% The higher the yield, 
the lower the fair 
value
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16. SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017:

Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/
registration

Principal 
place of 
operation

Nominal value of 
issued ordinary 

share capital/
registered capital

Interest held  
by the Group Principal activities
2018 2017

China Wintax (Shenzhen) 
Company Limited

PRC (note b) PRC HK$1,000,000 100% — Trading of machineries, 
fabric and accessory 
materials

Drew Pearson International 
(Europe) Ltd. (note a)

The United 
Kingdom

The United 
Kingdom

£10,000 90% 90% Trading of headwear and 
accessories

Exquisite Property Limited The United 
Kingdom

The United 
Kingdom

£1 100% 100% Property holding

Famewell Corp USA USA US$100 100% 100% Property holding

Guang Zhou Jian Hao 
Headwear Manufacturing Ltd.

PRC (note b) PRC RMB45,777,729 100% 100% Property holding

H3 Sportgear LLC USA USA US$3,649,700 100% 100% Trading of headwear, 
apparel and accessories

Hatworld (Hong Kong) Ltd. Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Retailing

Mainland Development (BD) 
Co. Ltd.

Bangladesh Bangladesh BDT90,000,000 100% 100% Property holding

Mainland Sewing Headwear 
Manufacturing Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of headwear

Profit Longest Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Sourcing and trading 
of headwear and 
accessories

Rhys Trading Ltd. The British Virgin 
Islands

Hong Kong US$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding

San Diego Hat Company USA USA US$10,000 100% 100% Trading of headwear and 
accessories

SDHC Holding Co. USA USA US$3,000,000 100% 100% Property holding and 
investment holding

SDHC Property LLC USA USA US$1 100% 100% Property holding

SDH3 Whiptail LLC USA USA US$1 100% — Property holding

Simplylife LLC USA USA US$1 100% — E-commerce business

SMS FBA LLC USA USA US$1 100% — E-commerce business
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Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/
registration

Principal 
place of 
operation

Nominal value of 
issued ordinary 

share capital/
registered capital

Interest held  
by the Group Principal activities
2018 2017

Raise Your Game LLC USA USA US$1 100% — E-commerce business

Medone LLC USA USA US$1 100% — E-commerce business

Sky Trade Global Limited  
(note a)

The British Virgin 
Islands

Bangladesh US$1 90% 90% Trading of headwear

Top Super Sportswear 
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.

PRC (note b) PRC HK$52,000,000 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of 
headwear

Unimas Sportswear Ltd.  
(note a)

Bangladesh Bangladesh BDT84,109,700 90% 90% Manufacture and sale of 
headwear

Wintax Caps (Shenzhen)  
Co., Ltd.

PRC (note b) PRC HK$20,000,000 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of 
headwear

Wintax Trading Limited Macau Macau MOP$100,000 100% 100% Trading of headwear and 
provision of digitizing 
services

Wintax Macao Commercial 
Offshore Co Ltd

Macau Macau MOP$50,000 100% 100% Provision of research 
and development, 
quality control and 
administrative services

上海成顏豐商貿有限公司  
(note a)

PRC (note b) PRC RMB10,000,000 75% 75% Retailing and wholesales

Other than Rhys Trading Ltd. which is held directly by the Company, all subsidiaries are held 
by the Company indirectly.

note a:

The non-controlling interests in respect of these companies are not material.

note b:

These companies are registered in the PRC in the form of wholly foreign-owned enterprises.
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17. GOODWILL

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Opening net book amount 33,798 33,798  

Closing net book amount 33,798 33,798  

Cost 38,756 38,756
Accumulated impairment (4,958) (4,958)  

Net book amount 33,798 33,798  

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of impairment loss, is allocated to the following CGU:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trading Business — H3 22,488 22,488
Trading Business — SDHC 11,310 11,310  

33,798 33,798  

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on the higher of the fair values less 
costs to sell and value in use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections 
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows 
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates of 2% (2017: 2%). 
The growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the respective countries.
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The key assumptions used are as follows:

2018 2017

Trading Business — H3
Sales growth rate 15% 12%
Discount rate 16% 16%
Gross profit margin 25% 28%

Trading Business — SDHC
Sales growth rate 9% 9%
Discount rate 16% 16%
Gross profit margin 57% 58%

The budgeted sales and gross profit margin of the CGUs were determined by the management 
based on past performance and their expectations for market development. Management 
believes that any reasonably foreseeable change in any of the above key assumptions would 
not result in impairment of goodwill. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks 
relating to the segment.

For the Trading Business — H3, the recoverable amount calculated based on value in use 
exceeded carrying value as at 31 December 2018 (2017: same). A decrease in gross profit 
margin by 6% (2017: 4%) would remove the remaining headroom.

For Trading Business — SDHC, the recoverable amount calculated based on value in use 
exceeded carrying value as at 31 December 2018 (2017: same). A decrease in gross profit 
margin by 5% (2017: 6%) would remove the remaining headroom.
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademark
Licensing 

rights

Acquired 
customer 

relationship Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2017
Opening net book amount 2,077 3,430 8,467 13,974
Additions — 4,893 — 4,893
Amortisation (1,079) (3,150) (1,508) (5,737)
Exchange differences — 89 — 89    

Closing net book amount 998 5,262 6,959 13,219    

At 31 December 2017
Cost 6,495 10,309 15,083 31,887
Accumulated amortisation (5,497) (5,047) (8,124) (18,668)    

Net book amount 998 5,262 6,959 13,219    

Year ended 31 December 2018
Opening net book amount 998 5,262 6,959 13,219
Additions — 6,158 — 6,158
Amortisation (998) (4,875) (1,591) (7,464)
Exchange differences — 67 — 67    

Closing net book amount — 6,612 5,368 11,980    

At 31 December 2018
Cost 6,495 13,193 15,083 34,771
Accumulated amortisation (6,495) (6,581) (9,715) (22,791)    

Net book amount — 6,612 5,368 11,980    
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19. DEFERRED INCOME TAXATION

At the balance sheet date, components of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities of the 
Group provided are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2018 2017 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation allowances (228) (308) — —

Net revaluation surplus on 
investment properties — — (3,892) (3,959)

Others 2,417 1,924 — —    

Deferred income tax assets/
(liabilities) 2,189 1,616 (3,892) (3,959)    

The movement for the year in the Group’s net deferred income tax assets is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net deferred income tax liabilities at 1 January (2,343) (1,677)
Credited/(charged) to consolidated statement of  

profit or loss (note 11) 492 (533)
Exchange differences 148 (133)  

Net deferred income tax liabilities at 31 December (1,703) (2,343)  
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The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows:

Assets Liabilities  

Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities)
Depreciation 

allowances Others
Sub  
total

Net revaluation 
surplus on 
investment 
properties

Sub  
total Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2017 (262) 2,166 1,904 (3,581) (3,581) (1,677)
Charged to the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss (13) (242) (255) (278) (278) (533)
Exchange differences (33) — (33) (100) (100) (133)      

At 31 December 2017 (308) 1,924 1,616 (3,959) (3,959) (2,343)
Credit/(charged) to the consolidated  

statement of profit or loss 71 493 564 (72) (72) 492
Exchange differences 9 — 9 139 139 148      

At 31 December 2018 (228) 2,417 2,189 (3,892) (3,892) (1,703)      

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of 
HK$126,033,000 (2017: HK$102,210,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against 
which the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. These 
tax losses have no expiry date except HK$90,627,805 (2017: HK$75,281,000) which will expire 
in 5 years to 20 years (2017: 5 years to 20 years).

20. INVENTORIES

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 95,089 74,268
Work-in-progress 24,452 20,044
Finished goods 89,115 82,513  

208,656 176,825  

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost of sales amounted to 
HK$394,817,000 (2017: HK$362,872,000).

Provision for inventories of HK$7,781,000 has been recognised to cost of sales (2017: 
HK$7,598,000).

The gross amount of inventories carried at net realisable value amounted to approximately 
HK$44,759,000 (2017: HK$38,892,000) as at 31 December 2018. Full provision has been made 
with regards to these balances.
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21.  TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 
COST

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 217,946 157,457
Less: provision for impairment loss (2,545) (4,515)  

Trade receivables, net 215,401 152,942  

Other financial assets at amortised cost 18,305 17,884
Less: provision for impairment loss (562) (1,522)  

233,144 169,304
Less: non-current portion of other financial assets at 

amortised cost (81) (425)  

Current portion 233,063 168,879  

The carrying amounts approximate their fair values.

 (a)  The majority of the Group’s sales are with credit terms of 30–120 days. The ageing 
analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 74,305 66,016
31 – 60 days 58,945 40,211
61 – 90 days 38,412 26,377
91 – 120 days 19,842 18,731
Over 121 days 26,442 6,122  

217,946 157,457  

 (b)  Included in trade receivables are notes receivable from one customer (2017: one customer) 
totalling HK$144,000 (2017: HK$695,000).

As at 31 December 2018, a note receivable of HK$144,000 (2017: HK$695,000) is interest 
bearing at 3% (2017: same) per annum and is repayable by 35 monthly instalments from 
April 2016 to February 2019. The note is secured by the personal guarantee of the owner 
of the customer.
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 (c) Impairment and risk exposure

  Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit loss 
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the 
expected credit loss, trade receivables relating to customers with known financial difficulties 
or significant doubt on collection of receivables are assessed individually for provision for 
impairment allowance, the remaining trade receivables have been grouped based on shared 
credit risk characteristics. Future cash flows for each group receivables are estimated on 
the basis of historical loss experience, adjusted to reflect the effects of current conditions 
as well as forward looking information.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, based on management’s assessment, the Group 
recorded impairment loss for trade receivables of HK$2,545,000 (2017: HK$4,515,000) 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Trade receivables of HK$3,074,000 
(2017: HK$737,000), which are still subject to enforcement activity, were determined 
as uncollectible and were written off against loan receivables during the year ended 
31 December 2018.

The movement in provision for impairment loss of trade receivables during the year is as 
follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 4,515 5,700
Net provision for impairment loss/(reversal of 

impairment loss) for the year (Note 8) 1,126 (470)
Uncollectible amounts written off (3,074) (737)
Exchange difference (22) 22  

At 31 December 2,545 4,515  

The Group does not hold any collateral over the impaired receivables other than the balance 
as described in note (b) above.

22. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 24,083 6,714
Others 5,091 3,819  

29,174 10,533  
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23.  FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSET

 (a) Financial assets at fair value through pro�t or loss

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s financial assets at FVPL represent investment in 
unlisted convertible bonds, listed securities and unlisted equity investment (2017: unlisted 
convertible bonds, listed securities and unlisted investment fund). The investment in unlisted 
convertible bonds, listed securities are mandatory measured at FVPL, while the Group 
does not elect to classify the unlisted equity investment as financial asset at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. The financial assets measured at FVPL are with the 
following details:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December, as originally presented
As at 1 January 36,324 9,304
Change in accounting policy (Note 2a(i))
— Reclassify from AFS to financial asset at FVPL 5,985 —  

As 1 January, as restated 42,309 9,304
Additions — 34,458
Disposals (8,110) (7,868)
Fair value (loss)/gain on revaluation recognised in 

consolidated statement of profit or loss (1,375) 430  

32,824 36,324  

Non-current
Unlisted convertible bonds in Hong Kong 15,916 15,944
Unlisted equity investment in the USA 5,830 —  

21,746 15,944  

Current
Listed securities in Hong Kong 11,078 12,270
Unlisted investment fund in Hong Kong — 8,110  

11,078 20,380  

32,824 36,324  
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On 28 June 2017, the Company entered into a guaranteed convertible bonds subscription 
agreement (“Subscription Agreement”) with an unlisted company, Living Design Limited 
(the “Issuer”), pursuant to which, the Group agreed to subscribe a three-year convertible 
bonds (“CB”) in principal amount of US$2,000,000. The CB carries an interest of LIBOR 
plus 2%, which is payable semi-annually. The Issuer is ultimately owned by Mr. Ngan Shun 
On, a brother of Madam Ngan Po Ling, Executive Director of the Company. The Issuer is 
principally engaged in the business of trading in electronic commerce platforms.

The Group, as a holder of the CB, has the option to convert the CB into ordinary shares 
at the conversion price initially set at US$20,000 per share, subject to certain adjustments 
as detailed in the Subscription Agreement, at any time falling 7 days prior to the maturity 
date. The Issuer also has the option to redeem the CB at the redemption price equals the 
principal amount, at any time prior to the maturity date.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL are denominated in the 
following currencies:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

US$ 21,746 15,944
HK$ 11,078 20,380  

32,824 36,324  

(b) Available-for-sale �nancial asset

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s AFS include unlisted equity interest in the USA with the 
following details:

2017
HK$’000

As at 1 January —

Addition 6,224
Fair value loss on revaluation recognised in other comprehensive income (239) 

As at 31 December 5,985 

The carrying amount of the AFS is denominated in US$.
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 97,254 182,843  

Cash and cash equivalents 97,254 182,843  

Short-term bank deposits 3,852 3,907  

The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 1.2% (2017: 0.87%) per annum; 
these deposits have an average maturity of 90 days as at 31 December 2018 (2017: 90 days).

Funds of the Group amounting HK$47,994,000 (2017: HK$45,328,000) are kept in the bank 
accounts opened with banks in the PRC and Bangladesh where the remittance of funds is 
subject to foreign exchange control.

25. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
shares of 

HK$0.10 each HK$’000

Authorised:
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017, 1 January 2018 and 

31 December 2018 1,000,000,000 100,000  

Issued and fully paid:
At 31 December 2016, 1 January 2017 405,013,284 40,501
Share option scheme:

— Exercise of share option (note 26) 160,000 16  

At 31 December 2017, 1 January 2018 405,173,284 40,517
Share option scheme:

— Exercise of share option (note 26) 150,000 15  

At 31 December 2018 405,323,284 40,532  
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26. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(1) On 23 May 2002, a share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) was adopted whereby the 
Board of Directors may, at their absolute discretion, grant options to any eligible employee 
including directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any investee entity, any 
suppliers of goods or services to any member of the Group or any investee entity, or any 
customer of the Group or any invested entity to subscribe for shares in the Company.

On 29 December 2011, the Old Scheme was terminated and a new share option scheme 
(the “New Scheme”) was adopted whereby the Board of Directors, may, at their absolute 
discretion, grant options to any eligible employee, including directors of the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries or any investee entity, any suppliers of goods or services to any 
member of the Group or any investee entity, or any customer of the Group or any investee 
entity to subscribe for shares in the Company.

On 15 July 2015 and 13 April 2017, a total of 11,900,000 and 20,370,000 share options 
were granted to certain directors and employees of the Group, respectively. The share 
option period shall be ten years from the date of grant and the share option shall lapse at 
the expiry of the option period. 20% of the options shall vest on the first to fifth anniversary 
dates of the date of grant each year.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be 
granted under the New Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group may 
not in aggregate exceed 39,858,328, being 10% of the shares in issue of the Company 
as at 29 December 2011, the date of adoption of the New Scheme. Upon refreshing of 
the scheme mandate limit, the Company may grant options entitling holders thereof to 
subscribe for up to a maximum of 40,532,328 shares, representing 10% of the shares in 
issue of the Company as at 16 May 2018.

The exercise price of the options is the highest of the nominal value of the shares, the 
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the options and 
the average closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days 
immediately preceding the date of offer of the options.
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 (a) Movements in share options

2018 2017

Number 
of share 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price

Number 
of share 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
HK$ HK$

At 1 January 45,350,000 1.241 26,140,000 1.023
Granted — — 20,370,000 1.534
Exercised (150,000) 0.969 (160,000) 1.055
Forfeited (1,000,000) 1.190 (1,000,000) 1.534    

At 31 December 44,200,000 1.243 45,350,000 1.241    

Options vested at 
31 December 23,764,000 1.081 18,570,000 0.987    

At the balance sheet date, the options have a weighted average contractual terms of 5.5 
years (2017: 6.4 years).

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and 
exercise prices:

Number of share options

Expiry date
Exercise 

price 2018 2017
HK$ ’000 ’000

10 June 2018 1.190 — 1,000
22 June 2019 0.946 11,900 12,030
7 November 2020 0.920 900 900
29 December 2021 0.800 1,000 1,000
14 July 2025 1.120 11,030 11,050
12 April 2027 1.534 19,370 19,370  

44,200 45,350  

Out of the total 44,200,000 (2017: 45,350,000) outstanding options, 23,764,000 options 
(2017: 18,570,000) are exercisable. 150,000 share options were exercised during the year 
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: 160,000).

Under this share option scheme, HK$3,050,000 (2017: HK$3,618,000) of share-based 
payment expense has been included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for 2018 
and a corresponding amount has been credited to share based compensation reserve.
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 77,276 48,379
Bill payables 11,867 4,285
Accrued charges and other payables 97,216 86,542  

186,359 139,206
Less: other non-current payables (2,572) (1,977)  

Current portion 183,787 137,229  

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 38,432 25,843
31 – 60 days 21,336 17,272
61 – 90 days 12,429 1,671
Over 90 days 5,079 3,593  

77,276 48,379  

Contract liabilities of HK$2,777,000 (2017: HK$5,289,000) are recognised when a customer pays 
consideration, or is contractually required to pay consideration and the amounts are already due, 
before the Group recognised the related revenue. The Group expects to deliver the goods to 
satisfy the remaining performance obligation of these contract liabilities within one year or less.
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28. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

The amount is unsecured and repayable on demand. Among the total balance, HK$721,000 
(2017: HK$658,000) is interest bearing at 5% (2017: 5%) per annum.

29. BORROWINGS

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non current:
Finance lease liability 609 —  

Current:
Bank borrowings 149,229 112,528
Finance lease liability 183 —  

149,412 112,528  

150,021 112,528  

As at 31 December 2018, the bank borrowings would be matured from 1 to 5 years but repayable 
on demand (2017: same).

The weighted average effective interest rate per annum for borrowings was 2.62% (2017: 2.69%).

The borrowings as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are unsecured. The carrying amounts of the 
borrowings approximate their fair values.
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30. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

 (a) Reconciliation of pro�t before income tax to net cash generated from operations

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax 70,736 85,578
Finance income (1,527) (1,516)
Finance expenses 3,944 1,837
Borrowing costs capitalised (3,668) (871)
Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment 29 19
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 1,375 (430)
Interest income of unlisted convertible bonds in Hong 

Kong (830) —
Fair value gain on investment properties (290) (1,018)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 24,217 23,624
Amortisation of other intangible assets 7,464 5,737
Net provision for inventories 7,781 7,598
Share-based payment expenses 3,050 3,618
Net impairment loss/(net reversal of impairment loss) 

on financial assets 1,126 (470)
Changes in working capital:

Inventories (39,612) (2,590)
Trade receivables and other financial assets at 

amortised cost (64,158) (3,996)
Other current assets (18,641) (1,095)
Trade and other payables 40,895 (10,731)
Amounts due to non-controlling interests 64 (418)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss — (3,030)  

Cash generated from operations 32,055 101,846  

 (b)  In the cash �ow statement, proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 
comprise:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net book amount (note 14) 29 28
Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment (29) (19)  

 
Proceeds from disposals of property,  

plant and equipment — 9  



Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited138

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

 (c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from �nancing activities

This section sets out the movement in liabilities arising from financing activities:

Borrowings due within 1 year 
2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 112,528 58,621
Cash flows 37,493 53,907  

As at 31 December 150,021 112,528  

31. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the balance sheet date, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases of land and buildings which are payable as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 6,028 10,053
In the second to fifth years inclusive 7,994 4,378
Over five years 2,328 1,367  

16,350 15,798  

Payment obligations in respect of operating lease on properties with rentals vary with gross 
revenues apart from base rental are not included as future minimum lease payments.

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred as at the balance sheet date is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for 9,428 58,429  
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33. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The ultimate holding company of the Company is Successful Years International Company 
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling party of 
the Group is Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP.

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, 
the Group entered into the following significant related party transactions.

 (a) Sale and purchase of goods and services

2018 2017
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of goods to affiliated companies of a 
shareholder (i) 447,405 385,072

Rental paid in respect of office premises to 
directors and a company controlled by a 
director (ii) 1,722 1,722

Claim charges paid to affiliated companies 
of a shareholder (iii) 479 555  

(i) Sales of goods to affiliated companies of a shareholder were transacted pursuant to the terms and 
conditions set out in the manufacturing agreement entered into by the Company and NEHK on 
30 September 2014. These transactions are connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules.

(ii) Rental paid in respect of office premises to directors and a company controlled by a director were 
charged at a fixed monthly fee mutually agreed between the two parties. This transaction is a 
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(iii) Claim charges were paid to affiliated companies of a shareholder at a fee mutually agreed between 
two parties.
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 (b) Year-end balances arising from sale of goods and services

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables from affiliated companies of a 
shareholder 132,207 80,626  

Trade receivables from affiliated companies of a shareholder arise mainly from sale 
transactions and are due 60 days after the date of sales. The receivables are unsecured 
in nature and bear no interest. No provisions are held against such receivables.

 (c) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for the Group’s key management personnel, including amounts paid to the 
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 36 and certain of the highest paid employees 
as disclosed in note 10, is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term employee benefits 32,192 34,098
Retirement scheme contributions 204 168  

32,396 34,266  

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group had no contingent liabilities.
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35. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

2018 2017
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries 691,808 605,359
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 15,916 15,944  

707,724 621,303  

Current assets
Other financial assets at amortised cost 831 —

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss — 8,110
Cash and cash equivalents 2,061 14,410  

2,892 22,520  

Total assets 710,616 643,823  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 
Share capital 40,532 40,517
Other reserves (a) 278,397 275,738
Retained earnings (a) 390,321 324,073  

709,250 640,328  

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accrued charges and other payables 1,366 3,495  

1,366 3,495  

Total equity and liabilities 710,616 643,823  
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Note (a) Reserve movement of the Company

Share 

premium

Contributed 

surplus

Share based 

compensation 

reserve

Retained 

earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2017 166,655 99,431 5,882 280,720 552,688
Profit for the year — — — 63,608 63,608
2016 final dividend paid — — — (12,152) (12,152)
2017 interim dividend paid — — — (8,103) (8,103)
Share option scheme:
— Value of services provided — — 3,618 — 3,618
— Share options exercised 181 — (29) — 152     

At 31 December 2017 166,836 99,431 9,471 324,073 599,811     

At 1 January 2018 166,836 99,431 9,471 324,073 599,811
Profit for the year — — — 85,992 85,992
2017 final dividend paid — — — (12,160) (12,160)
2018 interim dividend paid — — — (8,106) (8,106)
Share option scheme:
— Share options lapsed — — (522) 522 —
— Value of services provided — — 3,050 — 3,050
— Share options exercised 180 — (49) — 131     

At 31 December 2018 167,016 99,431 11,950 390,321 668,718     

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the combined net asset value of the 
subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor 
pursuant to a Group reorganisation in 2000.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed surplus is available for distribution to shareholders. 
However, a company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus, if:

(i) the company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(ii) the realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and 
its issued share capital and share premium accounts.
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36.  BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED 
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP. 
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF 
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

 (a) Directors’ emoluments

The remunerations of each director for the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,  

whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking 

Year ended 31 December 2018

Fees Salaries

Discretionary 

bonus

Housing 

allowances

Estimated 

monetary 

value of other 

bene�ts  

(Note (a))

Employer’s 

contributions 

to a retirement 

bene�t scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung — 1,950 2,000 — 306 — 4,256

Madam Ngan Po Ling,  

Pauline, BBS, JP 

(Managing Director) — 1,612 2,000 1,440 458 78 5,588

Mr. James S. Patterson — 120 311 — 153 — 584

Ms. Maggie Gu — 2,312 225 — 181 18 2,736

Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, 

Alexander — 745 200 — 176 18 1,139

Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William 120 — — — — — 120

Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, 

Brandon, JP 120 — — — — — 120

Mr. Gordon Ng 120 — — — — — 120       

Total 360 6,739 4,736 1,440 1,274 114 14,663       
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,  

whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking 
Year ended 31 December 2017

Fees Salaries

Discretionary 

bonus

Housing 

allowances

Estimated 

monetary 

value of other 

benefits  

(Note (a))

Employer’s 

contributions 

to a retirement 

benefit scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung — 1,950 2,000 — 325 — 4,275

Madam Ngan Po Ling,  

Pauline, BBS, JP 

(Managing Director) — 1,768 2,000 1,440 488 78 5,774

Mr. James S. Patterson — 120 312 — 163 — 595

Ms. Maggie Gu — 2,218 250 — 210 18 2,696

Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, 

Alexander — 728 200 — 202 18 1,148

Mr. Andrew Ngan 57 — — — — — 57

Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William 120 — — — — — 120

Mr. Liu Tieh Ching,  

Brandon, JP 120 — — — — — 120

Mr. Gordon Ng 120 — — — — — 120       

Total 417 6,784 4,762 1,440 1,388 114 14,905       

Note (a): Other benefits include leave pay, share option and insurance premium.

No director waived any emoluments in respect of the years ended 31 December 2018 
and 2017.
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 (b) Directors’ retirement bene�ts and termination bene�ts

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefits or termination benefits 
during the year (2017: Nil).

 (c) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services

The Group did not pay consideration to any third parties for making available directors’ 
services during the year (2017: Nil).

 (d)  Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, 
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealing were made available in favour of the directors, 
controlled body corporates and connected entities of such directors at the end of the year 
or at any time during the year (2017: Nil).

 (e) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

During the year, the Group entered into business transactions with related parties in the 
normal course of business. Details of the transactions are disclosed in note 33 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Other than the above, no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation 
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the 
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the 
year or at any time during the year.
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Results Year ended 31 December
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 917,533 870,998 870,291 890,707 941,493
Gross profit 249,753 265,112 288,017 287,794 291,524
Profit before income tax 35,952 56,050 83,822 85,578 70,736
Profit for the year attributable to: 30,420 51,376 75,192 81,223 67,346     

Owners of the Company 33,042 52,554 71,586 77,228 62,513
Non-controlling interests (2,622) (1,178) 3,606 3,995 4,833
Basic earnings per share (HK 

cents) 8.3 13.2 17.9 19.1 15.4
Dividends 11,958 11,958 20,122 20,255 20,266     

Assets and liabilities As at 31 December
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets 242,197 269,386 265,217 383,934 487,693
Current assets 506,333 509,454 569,757 564,571 583,900
Current liabilities (230,359) (223,539) (225,037) (268,801) (350,026)
Net current assets 275,974 285,915 344,720 295,770 233,874
Non-current liabilities (4,250) (4,591) (4,630) (5,936) (7,073)
Net assets 513,921 550,710 605,307 673,768 714,494     

Notes:  The information of the financial summary for two years ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 have been extracted 
from the audited consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated balance sheet which are set out on 
page 63 to page 66 of the annual report.
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